Meeting:
Date/Time:
Location:
Contact:
Email:

Health and Wellbeing Board
Thursday, 22 January 2015 at 2.00 pm
Guthlaxton Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield
Mrs. R. Palmer (Tel: 0116 305 6098)
rosemary.palmer@leics.gov.uk
Membership
Mr. E. F. White CC (Chairman)
Gillian Adams
John Adler
Cllr. J. Boyce
Dr Dave Briggs
Mick Connell
Lesley Hagger
Ch. Supt. Sally Healy
Mr. Dave Houseman MBE, CC
Dr Andy Ker

Dr Satheesh Kumar
Dr Mayur Lakhani
Rick Moore
Mr. I. D. Ould CC
Cllr. P. Posnett
Professor Aly Rashid
Toby Sanders
Mike Sandys

AGENDA
Item

Report by

1.

Minutes of the meeting held on 20 November
2014.

2.

To advise of any other items which the
Chairman has decided to take as urgent
elsewhere on the agenda.

3.

Declarations of interest in respect of items on
the agenda.

4.

Position Statement by the Chairman.

(Pages 3 - 12)

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall
Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk
www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy

www.facebook.com/leicsdemocracy

www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy

Strategy.
5.

Transforming Care for People with Learning
Disabilities in Leicestershire.

Learning
Disabilities
Programme Board

6.

Update Report on Maternity and Children's
Workstream for Better Care Together.

(Pages 21 - 24)
Director of
Children and
Family Services,
East Leicestershire
and Rutland and
West
Leicestershire
CCG and
Leicestershire
County Council

7.

Progress Report for Reform of Special
Educational Needs and Disabilities.

Director of
Children and
Family Services

(Pages 25 - 32)

8.

Update of Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
2013-16.

Leicestershire
County Council

(Pages 33 - 60)

(Pages 61 - 96)

(Pages 13 - 20)

Performance
9.

Improving the Urgent Care System in
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland: Focus
on Hospital Discharge

Director of Health
and Care
Integration,
Director of Adults
and Communities

10.

Healthwatch Review of Discharge.

Healthwatch

There will be a powerpoint presentation for this item.
11.

Health Protection Board Annual Report
2013/14.

Director of Public
Health

(Pages 97 118)

Director of Health
and Care
Integration

(Pages 119 124)

Governance.
12.

Revised Terms of Reference for the Integration
Executive.

13.

Date of Next Meeting.
The next meeting will be held on Thursday 12th March at 2.00pm.

14.

Any other items which the Chairman has
decided to take as urgent.

3

Agenda Item 1

Minutes of a meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held at County Hall, Glenfield on
Thursday, 20 November 2014.
PRESENT
Leicestershire County Council
Mr. E. F. White CC (In the Chair)
Mr. Dave Houseman MBE, CC
Mr. I. D. Ould CC

Mick Connell
Lesley Hagger
Mike Sandys

Clinical Commissioning Groups
Toby Sanders
Healthwatch Leicestershire
Gillian Adams
Rick Moore
Leicestershire District/Borough Councils
Cllr Pam Posnett
NHS England
Professor Aly Rashid
University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust
John Adler
In attendance
Tim Sacks, East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group
Dr Chris Trzcinski, West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group
136. Minutes.
The minutes of the meeting held on 16 September 2014 were taken as read, confirmed
and signed.
137. Urgent Items.
There were no urgent items for consideration.
138. Declarations of interest.

4
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of
items on the agenda for the meeting.
No such declarations were made.
139. Position Statement by the Chairman.
The Chairman presented a position statement on the following matters:•
•
•
•
•

Learning Lessons to Improve Care across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland;
Local Progress towards Primary Care Co-commissioning;
Local Progress with Integration through the Better Care Fund;
Innovation and Funding Opportunities;
National Publications of Interest to the Board;

A copy of the position statement is filed with these minutes.
The Chairman then invited Healthwatch to give a presentation on the ‘My Voice Counts’
tour, a series of nine engagement events held across Leicestershire between July and
November 2014. A copy of the slides forming the presentation is filed with these
minutes.
The Board welcomed the presentation and supported the recommendations made by
Healthwatch. It was suggested that, with regard to issues relating to the Arriva Patient
Transport Service, any concerns should be shared with the Clinical Commissioning
Groups and Quality Surveillance Group. It was also noted that issues around GP access
would be addressed through the Primary Care Strategy.
140. A Book of Me (Dementia Resource for Newly Diagnosed Patients).
The Board considered a report from Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council which
provided information on ‘A Book of Me’, a dementia resource developed in collaboration
between the Hinckley and Bosworth Health and Wellbeing Partnership and Beauty and
Utility Arts, a social enterprise located in Hinckley. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda
Item 5’ is filed with these minutes.
It was noted that consideration was currently being given, in conjunction with Vista, to
developing a version of ‘A Book of Me’ that could be used by people with a visual
impairment.
The resource would be distributed by Age UK and the Alzheimers Society. An induction
session would be held beforehand. In the future, it was hoped that Community Matrons
would also use the resource. Officers were encouraged to contact the Clinical
Commissioning Groups to look at further options for the distribution of the resource,
particularly given the programme to increase dementia diagnoses in GP practices.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the development and implementation of A Book of Me be noted;
(b) That a further report be received following the implementation and evaluation of
phase one of the A Book of Me project.

5
141. Summary of the Five Year Strategic Plan,Strategic Outline Case and Programme
Initiation Document.
The Board considered a report from the Better Care Together Programme which
provided a summary of the work done across the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
health and social care economy, through the Better Care Together Programme, to
develop plans to transform local services in order to assure their long term clinical,
operational and financial viability. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 6’ is filed
with these minutes.
The Board welcomed the report and members of the Board who were also members of
the Better Care Together Partnership Board expressed the view that the Five Year
Strategy accurately reflected the local authority and social care challenges, as well as
those facing the NHS. It was noted that Healthwatch also welcomed the Strategy as the
appropriate way forward for local health and social care services.
It was noted that an accessible version of the Better Care Together Five Year Strategy,
Strategic Outline Case and Project Initiation Document would be produced. It was also
intended that public engagement on these documents would take place during the
Spring.
The Five Year Strategy contained a high level summary of the key interventions required
across the health and social care system in order to deliver the required improvements.
These would now be developed into specific actions. It was noted that, where necessary,
public consultation would be carried out before decisions were taken.
The outcome of the Office of Government Commerce review which had examined initial
progress made by the Better Care Together programme had been broadly favourable.
Recommendations arising from the review were being taken forward by the Partnership
Board.
The funding required to deliver the transformation within the Five Year Strategy was
significant and would entail both capital and revenue elements estimated at £430m and
£256m respectively. The Strategic Outline Case was intended to provide a robust
business case for the programme and would be used to commence discussions
regarding funding with the Trust Development Authority and NHS England.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the development of a draft strategic outline case and programme initiation
document to support the LLR five year strategic plan be noted;
(b) That the comments now made on the draft strategic outline case and programme
initiation document be forwarded to the Better Care Together programme office for
consideration.

142. Emotional Health and Wellbeing of Children and Young People
The Board considered a report of the Joint Commissioner for Child and Adolescent
Mental Health Services (CAMHS) which set out the work undertaken across Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland to produce a joint multi-agency strategic approach to
improving the emotional and mental health of children and young people, the review of

6
CAMHS services for outpatients provided by Leicestershire Partnership Trust (LPT) and
the national review of inpatient CAMHS services. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda
Item 7’ is filed with these minutes.
Arising from discussion the following points were raised:(i) Concern was expressed that the target waiting time for CAMHS outpatient
services (tier 3) was regularly breached. The number of young people suffering
harm as a result of the long waiting time was not measured. This matter had also
come to the attention of the Local Safeguarding Children Board which was keen to
ensure that it was resolved and that the relevant data was correctly captured. It
was acknowledged by LPT that the support for young people who were waiting for
services was not sufficient.
(ii) Other issues of concern identified included pathways not commonly being
followed, a lack of consistency in service provision, low levels of GP satisfaction
with the service and that the savings to be made by the County Council could
result in less capacity for support of CAMHS services in the future
(iii) It was noted that referral rates were increasing by approximately ten percent each
year. It would be important for the review to recognise the need for the model to
change. For example, the Clinical Commissioning Groups were currently
considering the provision of community based care for young people with eating
disorders.
(iv) It was noted that a stakeholder engagement event for the review of CAMHS
outpatient services had already taken place. An interim report was expected early
in the new year and interim findings would be available by May 2015.
(v) Concern was expressed that report did not feel cohesive or sufficiently action
orientated and there was a lack of join up across the spectrum of services and
strategies for the emotional health and wellbeing of children and young people.
The children’s workstream in the Better Care Together programme would bring all
these pieces of work together and provide leadership. With regard to CAMHS
service specifically, the fragmentation of commissioning created additional
problems. It was proposed that, in order to address the issues identified by the
review, a group comprising the commissioners of CAMHS was established to
tackle the issues raised in this report.
(vi) A Parliamentary Select Committee had reviewed CAMHS tier 2 and 3 services at a
national level. Its most recent findings included that the service was commonly
underfunded; there was a lack of data relating to prevalence rates and a need to
look at new models of service provision.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the work across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland to produce a joint
multi-agency strategic approach to improving the emotional and mental health of
children and young people, the review of the Child and Adolescent Mental Health
Services (CAMHS) for outpatients provided by Leicestershire Partnership Trust
and the national review of inpatient CAMHS services be noted;

7
(b) That the Director of Children and Family Services be requested to form a group
comprising the commissioners of CAMHS Services to provide leadership to work
in this area, progress the issues identified in the report and report to a future
meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board;
(c) That the Director of Children and Family Services discuss the recording of data
relating to safeguarding of CAMHS patients with the Independent Chair of the
Local Safeguarding Children Board and relevant service providers to seek
agreement on resolving this issue, in particular with respect to routine recording of
adolescent suicide figures.
143. Co-commissioning of Primary Care
The Board considered a report of West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group
(CCG) which presented the slide set from NHS England setting out the proposed next
steps towards primary care co-commissioning. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda
Item 8’ is filed with these minutes.
West Leicestershire CCG was developing a model with delegated arrangements, which
would allow the CCG to assume full responsibility for commissioning primary care
services, although for legal reasons the liability would remain with NHS England.
The detailed guidance issued by NHS England recommended that, in order to manage
conflicts of interest, a committee was established with organisations, including the Health
and Wellbeing Board and Healthwatch. The representatives from Healthwatch welcomed
this opportunity.
West Leicestershire CCG was keen to explore co-commissioning with Public Health, as
well as with NHS England. This opportunity was welcomed by the Director of Public
Health.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the proposed steps towards primary care co-commissioning be noted;
(b) That the detailed proposal be circulated to all members of the Board for
information once it has been developed and a report on progress be submitted to
the next meeting of the Board.
144. Primary Care Operating Framework and Co-Commissioning Timescales and Process.
The Board considered a report of East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG) which provided an update on the direction of travel for
Primary Medical Services in East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG. A copy of the report
marked ‘Agenda Item 9’ is filed with these minutes.
East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG shared similar views of Primary Care Cocommissioning with West Leicestershire CCG with a vision of primary care redesign to
reduce pressure on GP provided services by expanding the work of other professionals
within GP practices, allowing GPs to focus on those with the most complex needs.

8
The Board supported the direction of travel for Primary Medical Services, particularly with
regard to outcomes based commissioning and the potential for this to be done in an
integrated way.
RESOLVED:
(c) That the detailed proposal for primary care co-commissioning be circulated to all
members of the Board for information once it has been developed;
(d) That the comments now made on the direction of travel for Primary Medical
Services be referred to East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning
Group for consideration.
145. Draft Primary Care Medical Plan.
The Board considered a report of West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group
(CCG) which provided an update on the process to develop the draft Primary Medical
Care Plan and sought comments on it. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 10’ is
filed with these minutes.
It was noted that West Leicestershire CCG was aiming for ‘horizontal integration’ with
other NHS services. This included options such as secondary care providers looking
after complex patients in the community. The long term sustainability of the health
service would be secured through organisations working together better and reducing
duplication in the system. However, before moving toward this it would be important for
the provision of primary care to be stabilised.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the draft Primary Care Medical Plan be noted;
(b) That the comments now made be referred to West Leicestershire Clinical
Commissioning Group for consideration.
146. Update on Transformation Challenge Award Funding Bids.
The Board considered a report of the Director of Health and Care Integration which
provided an update on the progress of two local Transformation Challenge Award bids
submitted for the 2015/16 tranche of funding, targeted at improving the integration of
health and care and supporting the shift of activity into prevention in community settings.
A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 11’ is filed with these minutes.
RESOLVED:
That the submission of the two applications made for national transformation funding in
support of improving integration of health and care in Leicestershire be noted.
147. Leicestershire Cancer Audit
The Board considered a report of the Director of Public Health which highlighted the
results and lessons from the 2013/14 Leicestershire GP cancer audit. A copy of the
report marked ‘Agenda Item 12’ is filed with these minutes.

9
Concern was expressed that cancer potentially did not have a sufficiently high profile in
the Better Care Together Five Year Health and Social Care Strategy given the current
configuration of priority workstreams. Consideration was given to whether cancer should
feature in each of the existing workstreams or be developed into an additional
workstream. It was also felt that leadership across the system was needed to ensure that
the issues raised in the audit were addressed and that the position for Leicester City and
Rutland in relation to cancer data analysis would also need to be considered.
It was noted that a new tool was being introduced in West Leicestershire CCG to raise
awareness of cancer. It would be interesting to see it this made a difference to the
timeliness of diagnosis. Other initiatives included the training of GP trainers, again to
raise awareness of cancer in primary care.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the results from the 2013/14 Leicestershire GP cancer audit be noted;
(b) That the Better Care Together Partnership Board be asked to consider how issues
relating to cancer are addressed through the programme, in the light of the
comments now made.
148. Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment.
The Board considered a report of the Director of Public Health which provided an update
on the progress of the consultation for the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) and
the progress that had made with respect to responding to the PNAs of neighbouring
Health and Wellbeing Boards. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 13’ is filed with
these minutes.
It was noted that the PNA would influence commissioning decisions. It was requested
that, in order to facilitate this, the relevant parts of the PNA be extracted to enable
commissioners to take them into consideration.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the progress made to date through the PNA consultation be noted;
(b) That the Director of Public Health be authorised to respond formally to the PNA
consultations for neighbouring Health and Wellbeing Boards on behalf of the
Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board;
(c) That the Director of Public Health be requested to extract those parts of the PNA
relevant to commissioning decisions and share the information with
commissioners.
149. Performance Update at End of Quarter 2 2013/14
The Board considered a joint report of the Chief Executive of Leicestershire County
Council and the Greater East Midlands Commissioning Support Unit (GEM CSU) which
provided an update on performance against current priorities in the Joint Health and
Wellbeing Strategy and Commissioner Performance Frameworks, based on data
available at the end of the second quarter of 2014/15. A copy of the report marked
‘Agenda Item 14’ is filed with these minutes.

10
Concern was expressed that there had been no change to performance around delayed
transfers of care. It was noted that Leicestershire performed worse than Leicester and
Rutland in this area. The Integration Executive was considering this issue in some detail
as part of the Better Care Fund Plan and the Help to Live at Home project, and its
findings would be shared with the Health and Wellbeing Board in January, along with
Healthwatch Leicestershire’s review of patient experience of discharge.
RESOLVED:
That the performance summary, issues identified this quarter and actions planned in
response to improve performance be noted.
150. Children's Rights Service Annual Report.
The Board considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which set
out the 2013/14 Annual Reports of the Children’s Rights Service and sought the support
of the Health and Wellbeing Board’s membership to contribute, as relevant, to the
successful delivery of the actions identified in the work plans. A copy of the report
marked ‘Agenda Item 15’ is filed with these minutes.
It was suggested that future reports to the Board from all service areas include a section
setting out what was required specifically from each organisation.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the content of the Children’s Rights Service Annual Reports and the
improvements and developments planned for 2014-15 as set out in the work plans
be noted;
(b) That a progress report on improvements to the timeliness of health assessments
and the health summary for care leavers be submitted to a future meeting of the
Health and Wellbeing Board;
(c) That all future reports to the Health and Wellbeing Board identify where actions
need to be undertaken by specific organisations, as part of the recommendations
made in the report.

151. Care Act 2014 Implementation.
The Board considered a report of the Director of Adults and Communities which provided
an update on the progress made thus far with the implementation of the Care Act 2014 in
Leicestershire. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 16’ is filed with these minutes.
It was suggested that officers from Adult Social Care should present the implications of
the Care Act to Clinical Commissioning Groups in Board Development Sessions in the
next couple of months to ensure that there was understanding across the system. It was
also suggested that risks arising from the Care Act should have more visibility across the
health and social care system.
The requirements of the Care Act fitted with direction of travel for Adult Social Care
towards prevention and self care. However the Act would not increase the number of
vulnerable people without support in the County; the eligibility criteria defined in the Act

11
was more generous than the criteria currently used by the County Council. It was noted
that the County Council also provided support to carers, although the level of support
would increase as a result of the Act.
With regard to the requirement in the Care Act for Local Authorities to provide social care
support and services to prisoners, it was confirmed that NHS England, Public Health
England and the Association of Directors of Adult Social Care were progressing work
regionally to support its implementation.
It was noted that the most significant risk relating to the Care Act was that the County
Council would not have sufficient funding to implement it.
RESOLVED:
That the update on the progress made thus far with the implementation of the Care Act
2014 in Leicestershire be noted.
152. Review of the Effectiveness and Working Arrangements of the Integration Executive.
The Board considered a report which considered the effectiveness and working
arrangements of the Integration Executive after six months of operation, in line with the
Integration Executive’s terms of reference. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 17’
is filed with these minutes.
It was requested that an additional question be added to the proposed survey to test
respondents overall opinion on the added value of the work of the Integration Executive
RESOLVED:
(a) That the approach to gathering feedback on the effectiveness of the Integration
Executive be approved, subject to the addition of an additional question regarding
the added value of the work of the Integration Executive;
(b) That the findings and proposing and proposed recommendations arising from this
feedback be considered at a future meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board.

2.00 - 4.40 pm
20 November 2014

CHAIRMAN

12

This page is intentionally left blank

13

Agenda Item 5

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 22 JANUARY 2015
REPORT OF THE LEARNING DISABILITY PROGRAMME BOARD
TRANSFORMING CARE FOR PEOPLE WITH LEARNING DISABILITIES
IN LEICESTERSHIRE
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to:
•
•
•

Update on progress on the Winterbourne View ‘Transforming Care’ joint
improvement plan;
Update on the progress of the Better Care Together (BCT) learning disability work
stream;
Update on progress on the submission of the 2014/15 Joint Health and Social
Care Self Assessment Framework (JHSCSAF).

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2.

The Health and Wellbeing Board agreed the Leicestershire Health and Social Care
Winterbourne View Transforming Care joint improvement plan in May 2014.

3.

The BCT Five Year Strategic Plan was noted by the Board in November 2014.
Learning disability is one of the eight work streams within the delivery programme.

4.

The JHSCSAF resulted from an action arising from the National Transforming Care
Concordat for NHS England and the Association of Directors of Adult Social
Services. This is the second year the JHSCSAF has been collated as a partnership
between health and social care. Previously, similar exercises were completed as
separate health and social care returns. Qualitative and quantative questions are
based on three areas: Staying Healthy, Being Safe and Living Well.

Background
5.

The Leicestershire Health and Social Care Winterbourne View Transforming Care
joint improvement plan identifies five objectives:
i)

Understanding our people - Accurate, reliable person centred information will be
available across education, health and social care which supports the effective
commissioning of services for children, young people and adults with learning
disabilities who may also have mental health needs and behaviours that
challenge.

14
ii)

Effective Commissioning - A totally pooled budget supports the development of
flexible, responsive local provision, including 24 hour crisis support. The market
is supported to deliver innovative, person centred, cost effective services.

iii)

Quality Assurance and Compliance - Poor and non-compliant services will not
be tolerated in the absence of an alternative. We will work in partnership with
people with learning disabilities and their families to develop person centred
quality checking tools.

iv)

Keeping People Safe - People with learning disabilities and their families are
safe from abuse, through commission or omission. There are robust,
responsive systems in place which support information sharing (with due regard
to data protection and information sharing protocols) in relation to concerns
across health and social care. Learning from alerts and outcomes of
investigations is used to inform monitoring and delivery of services

v)

The right workforce - There is a workforce across all sectors which supports
people with learning disabilities and their families in a person centred way.
Creative recruitment and development practices are used to develop a values
based workforce with families and people with learning disabilities being integral
to its delivery.

6

A practical guide for Health and Wellbeing Boards to support leadership on the
Winterbourne priorities was published in 2014. The guide suggests that Boards ask
11 key questions. Leicestershire is progressing well against each one. The 11
questions with local responses are outlined in Appendix A.

7

The Health and Wellbeing Board noted the development of the BCT Draft Strategic
Outline Case and Programme Initiation Document in November 2014. The outcomes
for people with learning disabilities expected on delivery of BCT are:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The potential of individuals to lead independent and fulfilling lives to be
recognised as being the norm;
People with learning disabilities and family carers have expectations and
experiences which are comparable to the general population;
Support to be tailored to peoples individual needs;
Equitable access to mainstream services;
Improved physical health and life expectancy in people with learning disabilities;
Reduce spend per head by matching support setting to individual needs;
Good quality service provision is available in Leicester, Leicestershire and
Rutland (LLR) at the right time and at the right price.

Progress to date
Winterbourne
8

Progress includes:
•

All deadlines mandated through the Winterbourne View Transforming Care
Concordat have been met.

15
•

•

•

•

•
•

A review of the discharge status of all identified individuals living in Assessment
and Treatment Units and secure hospital settings is held regularly with the Clinical
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and NHS England.
Care and Treatments reviews as instructed by NHS England were completed
between October and December 2014. The six people reviewed, funded by
either West Leicestershire CCG or East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG, were
deemed to be in an appropriate setting.
The National Winterbourne View Joint Improvement Programme published a case
study highlighting good practice across LLR in the sharing of information on the
Local Government Association website.
DH (Department of Health) Capital Grant award of £391,700 for a joint LLR
project to provide long and short term accommodation for the Winterbourne
cohort and to support the prevention of hospital admissions.
Review of joint improvement plan scheduled for January 2015.
Leadership in Social Care course aimed specifically at managers of learning
disability services.

BCT – Learning disability work stream
9

Progress includes:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Strategy agreed.
Joint Market Position statement to be published in spring 2015.
LLR approach to the development of short breaks.
Active Patient and Public participation.
Development of Leicestershire Partnership Trust Outreach Team and Agnes Unit
Admission pathway.
Review of Continuing Healthcare funded support packages.

JHSCSAF
10

Progress includes:
•
•
•
•
•

Draft submission presented to families and people with learning disabilities on 8
January 2015.
Information has been collated from a range of sources including GPs.
Submission developed in partnership with Leicester and Rutland to ensure a coordinated approach where services overlap.
Additional information and analysis to be undertaken by the Public Health
Observatory in February.
Final submission and action plan to be submitted to the Health and Wellbeing
Board in March 2015.

Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
11

A group of family carers and people with learning disabilities has been established to
provide advice and guidance on strategic commissioning issues relating to learning
disability across health and social care.

12

The JHSCSAF included two questions which are to be answered by family carers
and people with learning disabilities. The views of family carers and people with

16
learning disabilities were collected through the Leicestershire Leaning Disability
Partnership Board and locality groups.
13

A group of people with learning disabilities are being trained to become Quality
Checkers. The purpose of the Quality Checkers is to provide the view of Experts by
Experience, particularly to monitor the quality of residential care services. People
with learning disabilities have been central to the development of a set of outcomes
and a job description for the Quality Checkers. The project is being delivered in
partnership with Leicestershire County Council’s Adult Social Care Compliance Team
and is making links with the CCGs.

Timetable for Decisions
14

The current national Winterbourne View Joint Improvement Programme comes to a
close on 31 March 2015. It is expected a new programme will be developed
following the report ‘Time for change’ by Sir Stephen Bubb and commissioned by
NHS England.

15

The governance for the JHSCSAF is clearly laid out. The submission of the required
return is as of today incomplete as data is to be added by Public Health England. The
nationally set timetable is as follows:
Activity
Deadline
• Local completion of initial draft of
the submission
• Local Authorities and CCG leads
finalise local submission
End of January 2015
• Local validation and sign off
from the LDPB
• Final submission of completed
and signed off framework to
Improving Health and Lives (the
body which is co-ordinating the
Self Assessment Framework as
part of the Public Health
Observatory),
Presentation to Health and
Wellbeing Boards – leading to local
action plan
End of March 2015

Progress

On track

12 March

Recommendations
16

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:
a)
b)
c)

Consider the draft Self Assessment and local action plan arising from the
JHSCSAF at its next meeting
Note the progress on Winterbourne priorities and agree to receive further
reports as emerging priorities from April 2015 are clear.
Note the progress on the learning disability element of the BCT programme.

Background papers

17
•

•

•

Health and Wellbeing Boards: leading local response to Winterbourne View
http://www.nhsconfed.org/resources/2014/07/health-and-wellbeing-boards-leadinglocal-response-to-winterbourne-view
2014, Winterbourne View – Time for Change: Transforming the commissioning of
services for people with learning disabilities and/or autism. Transforming Care and
Commissioning Steering Group. NHS England
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/11/transforming-commissioningservices.pdf
Local Government Association/NHS England – Area Case Study: Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland Better Care Together
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/12137/Leicester+area+case+study/a9933f
b0-2a30-42a0-8405-415a24ebfd21

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
The report is relevant to Leicestershire as a whole.
Officer to Contact
Mick Connell, Director of Adults and Communities
Adults and Communities Department
Tel: 0116 305 7454
Email: mick.connell@leics.gov.uk
Louisa Whait, Strategic Commissioning Manager, Learning Disability and Autism
Tel: 0116 305 0385
Email: louisa.whait@leics.gov.uk
List of Appendices
Appendix A: Health and Wellbeing Board: Leading local response to Winterbourne View
Relevant Impact Assessments
Partnership Working and associated issues
17

The Leicestershire joint improvement plan was developed and has been
implemented in partnership with people with learning disabilities, family carers, West
Leicestershire CCG, East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG, Leicestershire
Partnership Trust and the voluntary sector. The local improvement plan heavily
influenced the development of the Learning disability work stream of BCT and has
informed LLR joint working initiatives such as the successful DH Capital Grant to
support the Winterbourne cohort.

18
Appendix A
Health and Wellbeing Boards: Leading local response to Winterbourne View
A practical guide for Health and Wellbeing Boards: July 2014
The purpose of the guide is to provide practical information and guidance on the significant
role Health and Wellbeing Boards can play in leading the local response to Winterbourne
View. The 11 key questions and the Leicestershire progress are outlined below;
1.

Does the Board know how many local people in the vulnerable group are
currently in hospital, within the local area and outside it; and does this number
equate with the latest available data from NHS England?
On behalf of all LLR CCG’s West Leicestershire CCG collate and validate information
monthly on the numbers of people in hospital in the local area and beyond. A line by
line scrutiny is regularly undertaken with NHS England and the CCG’s to monitor
progress against planned discharges and identify issues.

2.

Is the Board aware of the planned discharge date for all vulnerable individuals,
so as to ensure the required support is in place for their return to the local
area?
Yes, the data collection outlined above includes information on planned discharges.

3.

Is the Board working in a proactive, co-productive and collaborative way with
individuals and their families, carers and advocates to identify and understand
their assets, needs and priorities?
Yes, through the development of the commissioning advisory group, links with the
Learning Disability Partnership Board, ongoing engagement and feedback from
service providers such as the Leicestershire Partnership Trust. The Leicestershire
and Rutland Adult Safeguarding Board has provided funding to train people with
learning disabilities as “Quality Checkers”. The Quality Checkers will work with Adult
Social Care’s Compliance Team to monitor care homes for people with learning
disabilities.

4.

Will there be effective commissioning procedures and processes in place by
June 2014 that will lead to a permanent reduction in the number of vulnerable
people in secure hospitals or assessment and treatment settings?
A Section 75 agreement is in place for the pooling of health and social care support
packages. A joint strategic commissioning manager was appointed in August 2013 to
support the development of effective commissioning. Planned activity in Better Care
Together supports the prevention agenda.

5.

Will any individual on discharge from inpatient care be appropriately supported
in a local, personalised, community based setting?
Yes, the award of the DH Capital Grant supports this work. There are dedicated
supported living officers and links with the LPT Outreach Team to provide support to
community placements.

19

6.

Is the Board exploring all possible integration and joint commissioning options
to best deliver expanded and improved person centred community provision?
The focus of the learning disability work stream of Better Care Together is the
development of community based provision. Work is ongoing across Health and
Social Care in Leicestershire and across the LLR landscape to develop services.

7.

Is there effective partnership working across the whole local system, including
with providers, to provide appropriate local services to meet the identified
needs and future anticipated needs of any local people in the vulnerable
group?
Yes, as previously outlined, there is effective partnership working across the health
and social care landscape, including with children’s services.

8.

Are appropriate services in place for prevention and early intervention for
children, young people and families, including well targeted support for
individuals at early risk?
Adults and children’s services are working together to develop commissioning and
monitoring practices to enable the early identification of children and young people
including continuity of support. This is supported by the development of the Whole
Life Disability agenda within the County Council and engagement with the Supporting
Leicestershire Families programme.

9.

Has the joint strategic plan been assimilated into the Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment (JSNA) and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) process
to enable a more strategic approach to commissioning services for children
and adults in this vulnerable group?
Improving services for people with learning disabilities is a key outcome for the
JHWS, the priorities have been determined by the Leicestershire Winterbourne joint
improvement plan. The learning disability chapter of the JSNA is due to be refreshed
building on the JSNA action plan which includes activity on learning disability.

10. Are there well developed, suitable and effective safeguarding procedures and
processes in place locally, used appropriately?
Yes, the LLR Multi Agency policy and procedure for the safeguarding of vulnerable
adults provides clear guidance and effective procedures. Winterbourne related issues
are discussed at the Adult Safeguarding Board. All people in the Winterbourne
cohort have been reviewed.
11. Is the Board clearly communicating what is being done to change how health
and wellbeing services are designed and delivered?
The Board communicates what is being done to change health and wellbeing through
a range of communication methods including the use of the County Council’s
website, meetings with stakeholders and patient and public involvement forums such
as Healthwatch Leicestershire.

20

This page is intentionally left blank

21

Agenda Item 6

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 22 JANUARY 2015
REPORT OF WEST LEICESTERSHIRE AND EAST LEICESTERSHIRE AND
RUTLAND CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUPS AND LEICESTERSHIRE
COUNTY COUNCIL
UPDATE REPORT ON MATERNITY AND CHILDREN’S BETTER CARE
TOGETHER WORKSTREAM
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to update the Health and Wellbeing Board on the scope
and progress of the work underway in the Maternity and Children’s Workstream as
part of Better Care Together (BCT).

2.

At its meeting on 16th September 2014, the Health and Wellbeing Board agreed that
the Leicestershire children’s integrated commissioning role previously overseen by
the Leicestershire Children and Young People’s Commissioning Board could be
subsumed into the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) Child Health Strategy
Group and linked into the governance system for the Health and Wellbeing Board.
The LLR Child Health Strategy Group has oversight of the BCT Steering Group for
the Maternity and Children’s Workstream.
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions

3.

Better Care Together is an unprecedented programme to reform health and social
care across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. The programme is a partnership
of local NHS organisations and councils and is driven by a shared recognition that
major changes are needed to ensure services can continue to meet the needs of
local people. The aim is to use the major financial challenges faced by the system as
an opportunity to improve outcomes and experience for patients. The Better Care
Together five-year plan has now been published.

4.

The Maternity and Children’s Workstream is part of the overarching Better Care
Together programme across LLR and will set out the future shape of services for
women, families and children. This workstream has a financial saving of £708.000 to
make over the 5 year period, £408,000 for maternity Services and £300,000 for
Children’s Services.
Background

5.

The child health agenda is vast and complicated and the current health care system
is not designed to address adequately the unique needs of children. The needs of
children are dealt with by a range of organisations including health, social care,
education and the voluntary sector. These services need to change because current
services are fragmented, and suffer from poor coordination amongst teams and
organisations. The service model varies across LLR and whilst some local variation
will always be needed, greater consistency is essential to reducing duplication.

22
Current services lack a focus on supporting independence: children and young
people need to be supported to self-care.
6.

The case for changing maternity and neonates services is that LLR is currently not
providing expectant mothers with as much choice as some other areas, and too
many mothers are presenting to services late in their pregnancy. There are also
concerns about the sustainability of running two obstetric-led maternity units in the
city and concerns about the sustainability of the St Mary’s Birthing Centre.

7.

The changes will improve health and wellbeing for children, leading to improved life
expectancy and independence, and more children and young people will benefit from
joined-up personalised care. There will be reduced duplication in the system, greater
productivity, reduced inpatient admissions and less hospital-based outpatient activity.
The changes will also deliver a sustainable long-term model for acute paediatric
provision across LLR and the local region that complies with national standards.

8.

For Maternity and neonatal Services the changes will deliver greater choice for
mothers in LLR about how they deliver their babies. Some groups will also receive
targeted support, for example teenage mums and other hard to reach groups who
may need help making the transition to parenthood. Ensuring services are accessible
and mothers access services at an appropriate point, and working in partnership with
agencies across LLR will improve perinatal outcomes, particularly in hard to reach
groups. The changes will also deliver a sustainable long-term model for maternity
and neonatology services in LLR that complies with national standards.

9.

The above changes will be delivered through a number of key multi-agency projects
listed below:•

Joint Commissioning: Health and Local Authorities are working together to jointly
commission pathway and integrate commissioning processes.

•

Emotional Health and Well-being Pathway: - Providing a pathway of services for
children and young people with emotional health and wellbeing problems across all
agencies.

•

Develop Integrated Work: - This work will look at internal horizontal and vertical
integration to reduce duplication and make best use of workforce capacity...

•

Deliver a Sustainable long term models for Maternity: - Explore options for
ensuring a safe and sustainable service that offers women choice.

•

Deliver a Sustainable long term models for Acute Paediatrics:-Develop models
of care across acute care providers within East Midland to provide networks of care
for sustainable service with territory centres and DGH to ensure care is given closer
to home.

•

Improved access to maternity services and perinatal outcomes: - Work with
Public Health and Local Authorities to review and develop appropriate antenatal,
intra partum and post natal provision.

23
•

Ensure Neonates are in the right cot at the right time: - Ensure LLR has
sufficient capacity and workforce and develop integrated pathways internally and
externally to ensure babies are in the right cot at the right time.

•

Deliver Care Closer to Home:-Identify pathways of care where duplication can be
reduced and activity can be moved from acute acre to community settings.
Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement

12.

As part of the overarching Better Care Together Programme a communication
strategy is being devised, however each work stream will need to have its own
communication and Patient Participation and Involvement plan which will involve
using existing structures, systems and personnel to consult and engage.

13.

As key principle that has been agreed by the workstream that each project has
meaningful engagement and user involvement as part of focus. It has been flagged
that due to the breath and complexity of some of the projects additional support and
capacity is required in this area.
Resource Implications

14.

The majority of this work will be delivered within current resources however the
workstream has identified where additional support and capacity is required this
includes:• Communication and Engagement
• Project management
• IT support ( in relation to information sharing)
• Administration
Timetable for Decisions

15. The Better Care Programme spans a five year time period between 2014 – 2019.
However it is anticipated some of the work within the Maternity and Children’s
workstream will be delivered as quick wins in shorter timeframes, these include:• Constipation pathway
• Hepatitis B pathway
• On-line Counselling
• Improved data flow between Maternity and Health Visiting.
Conclusions/Recommendations
16. This piece of work has the potential of improving the outcomes for women, families
and children without increasing costs through integrated commissioning and working
The Board is asked to note this paper.
Officers to Contact
Mel Thwaites, West Leicestershire CCG
Melanie.Twaites@westleicestershire ccg.nhs.uk
Lesley Hagger, Leicestershire County Council
Lesley.Hagger@leics.gov.uk

24

This page is intentionally left blank

25

Agenda Item 7

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 22 JANUARY 2015
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY
SERVICES
PROGRESS REPORT FOR REFORM OF SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL
NEEDS AND DISABILITY
Purpose of Report
1.

The purpose of the report is to:
•
•
•

Provide a progress update about the implementation of Special
Educational Needs and Disability) (SEND reform in Leicestershire.
To outline the responsibilities of health professionals with regard to the
SEND code of practice.
To outline the intentions for future reporting arrangements, bringing more
regular reports to the Health and Wellbeing Board.

Background
2.

At the meeting on 13th March 2014 the Health and Wellbeing Board received
a paper which provided information about the Children and Families Act and
within it the revised Code of Practice for Special Educational Needs and
Disability.

3.

The Children and Families Act received Royal Assent on 13th March 2014.

4.

Part 3 of the Children and Families Act outlines new responsibilities across
education, health and social care team for children and young people with
special educational needs and disability. This includes a new Code of Practice
which was finalised in July 2014. It is expected that all partners will work
together to deliver a person-centred approach through:
•
•
•
•
•

5.

Education, Health and Care (EHC) plans and assessment processes;
A Local Offer;
Personal Budgets offered in EHC plans
Mediation and dispute resolution arrangements;
Joint commissioning arrangements.

Included is the requirement for CCGs to:
•

Commission services jointly for children and young people (up to 25) with
SEND, including those with EHC plans

26

•
•
•

Work with the local authority to contribute to the Local Offer services
available;
Have mechanisms in place to ensure practitioners and clinicians will
support the integrated EHC needs assessment processes;
Agree Personal Budgets where they are provided for those with EHC
plans.

6.

The Department for Education (DfE) has published a series of subsidiary
documents to support the Code of Practice. Appendix 1 is the DfE’s guide for
health professionals which outlines the expectations of partners in seeking to
achieve a holistic approach to supporting children and young people with
SEND. Appendix 2 is the Department of Health’s guidance for Health and
Wellbeing Boards which highlights the pivotal role of the Board.

7.

The Department for Education has set out a clear timeline for implementation.
1st September 2014 was a key date by which a number of milestones had to
be met in order for the local authority to be legally compliant. All of these
milestones were met in Leicestershire.
Leicestershire’s progress to date

8.

Leicestershire places a high priority on improving the outcomes and raising
aspirations for all children and young people aged 0-25 with special
educational needs and disability. The vision for all children is that they live in
safe and thriving communities where they enjoy good health and wellbeing
and achieve their potential. The reform of SEND service is a fundamental
element of this vision. As such the project is identified as one of the County
Council’s 24 priority transformation projects.

9.

The reform has been planned in two phases: phase one focused on meeting
the initial milestones for September 2014 which are outlined in Appendix 3.
Phase two is a longer period of time focusing on the cultural shift which
underpins the reform.

10.

The key changes and progress outlined below includes specific reference to
the expectations of local authorities working in partnership with health
professionals and the approach the Leicestershire is taking.

Education, Health and Care (EHC) Plans
http://www.leics.gov.uk/send_ehc_plan.pdf
11.

Education Health and Care plans replace statements of SEN and Learning
Difficulty Assessments (LDAs). EHC plans can begin at birth and can continue
up to the age of 25 if the council considers that the young person needs more
time to complete their education or training. CCGs must co-operate with the
local authority in relation to EHC needs assessments and plans and health
commissioners must secure the health provision specified in the EHC plans.

27

12.

The operating model in Leicestershire will provide a co-ordinated assessment
process which can be used to issue a final EHC plan within 20 weeks. The
EHC plan template has been developed and tested and the process of
converting statements and LDAs began in September. Leicestershire began
the process with 2800 children and young people with a statement of special
educational needs and approximately 300 students with a LDA.
Next Steps:
• Revise criteria for statutory assessment
• Implement workforce development to focus on person centred
approaches
• Embed funding mechanism to use resources more effectively

The Local Offer
http://www.leics.gov.uk/Local_offer
13.

From September 2014, councils are required to publish a ‘Local Offer’ to
inform parents, carers and young people with SEND about services across
education, health and social care from birth to 25. This should include both
universal and specialist services.

14.

CCGs, NHS England, NHS Trusts or NHS Foundation Trusts and Local
Health Boards must co-operate with local authorities in the development and
reviewing of the Local Offer. The offer must include information about
provision made by health professionals for children and young people with
SEND. The Local Offer must be informed by feedback from children with SEN
or disabilities and their parents and local authorities must publish comments
from them about the Local Offer. It is acknowledged that Local Offers will be
developed and revised over time.

15.

In the first instance, existing published information from Leicestershire County
Council website from education, children and adult social care services has
formed the basis of the Local Offer. Links to health services have also been
included. As the County Council develops its online presence and the offer
will evolve to incorporate a broader range of information, including joint
commissioning with health services.

16.

Leicestershire is also participating in a pilot called SEND direct:
www.sendirect.org.uk
Next Steps

•

•

Work with the enabling projects for advice and information to determine
long term ownership of the Local Offer and the ICT infrastructure
required to support it.
Continue to work with health professionals to ensure that children with
SEND and their parents are fully informed of the range of universal,
preventative and specialist services available to them through the Local
Offer.

28

•

Ensure that all Leicestershire education settings are providing appropriate
information to support the Local Offer including information about funding
arrangements.

Personal Budgets
http://www.leics.gov.uk/index/children_families/family/send/send_personal_bu
dget.htm
17.

All parents in receipt of a new EHC plan will be able to request a personal
budget. Partners must set out in their joint commissioning arrangements and
their arrangements for agreeing Personal Budgets. CCGs must commit to
ensure that Personal Health Budgets are available to people who would
benefit from continued healthcare funding from April 2014 and with any long
term condition from April 2015.

18.

In Leicestershire, from 1st September 2014, access to a Personal Budget is
based on existing policies for direct payments with health, children and family
services and adults and communities services. It is anticipated that an early
offer for Personal Budgets will be SEN transport. The target operating model
is for assessments currently conducted across education, health and social
care services to provide indicative budgets through an assessment of need.
The longer term vision is to develop a model that is aligned to the aspirations
of the Care Act, i.e. a joint assessment by social care and health services
leading to a personal budget.

19.

The Pathfinder findings with regard to Personal Budgets reflect some of the
challenges that we are facing in Leicestershire. These included: the limited
availability and reliability of unit cost data; inflexibility of existing
commissioning arrangements; growing the provider market appropriately and
sufficiently to meet family-led demand; drawing in new services into the
Personal Budget offer whilst maintaining the viability of individual services;
releasing of school-based funding; and promoting the use of Personal
Budgets amongst the health workforce. In terms of quantifying Personal
Budgets, most services were either using, or were in the process of
developing a resource allocation tool to support practitioners to develop
indicative budgets. Such tools had been more commonly developed for use in
both children’s and adult social care, and were seen as more of a ‘work in
progress’ in both health and SEN. Therefore there has been less progress
made in developing personal budgets in health and SEN. From the DfE
‘Research and analysis: Special educational needs and disability pathfinder
evaluation’ page 15, the concept of a Personal Health Budget (PHB)
remained relatively new. In Leicestershire, this offer has been restricted to
children in receipt of NHS Continuing Care and in most cases personal
budgets have been offered on an ad hoc basis.

20.

The DfE and the Department for Health are surveying and visiting local
authorities and asking for specific evidence to demonstrate that the Personal
Budget offer is extended across education, health and social care services.

29

Next Steps
• SEN transport Personal Budget pilot
• Work with Schools Forum to develop an approach for implementing
education Personal Budgets
• Working with health professionals to extend Personal Health Budgets
• Work towards a system for providing a single personal budget across
education, health and social care services
Information, advice, mediation and dispute resolution
http://www.leics.gov.uk/index/education/going_to_school/parents.htm
21.

Local authorities must make it known to parents and young people the
possibility of resolving disagreements across education, health and social
care through disagreement resolution and mediation procedures. There
should also be information, advice and support service which is free, accurate
and impartial. CCGs and health bodies must co-operate with local authorities
in carrying out their functions. The NHS complaints arrangements cover the
health services which a child or young person receives under an EHC plan.

22.

Leicestershire’s existing mediation provider, the Together Trust, is being used
to provide mediation and dispute resolution until March 2015. Leicestershire is
working with nine local authorities in the East Midlands to carry out a tender
exercise for both mediation and independent dispute resolution from April
2015.

23.

Leicestershire’s Parent Partnership Service is now known as SEND Advice
and Information Service. This service will also issue certificates if a family
does not want mediation and wants to lodge an appeal with the Tribunal.
Next Steps
•
Conclude tender process for mediation and alternative dispute resolution
•
Further remodel SEND Advice and Information Service (AIS) to fulfil
expectation for young adults
•
Agree with Parent Carer Forum and SEND AIS the role of government
funded ‘Independent Supporters’
•
Continue to work with the Council’s enabling project ‘Advice and
Guidance’

Joint Commissioning
24.

Councils are required to establish joint commissioning arrangements with
health partners with responsibility for commissioning health services in the
council area. Local authorities, CCGs and other partners must work together
to assess the needs of the local population of children and young people with
SEN and disabilities and plan and commission services for them jointly.

30

25.

In March 2014 the Health and Wellbeing Board agreed that the local authority,
CCGs and NHS England will work together with parents/carers and partners
at a strategic level to develop an integrated approach. Health commissioners
are now working as part of the SEND project board and a group of health,
education and social care lead commissioners has been established. Work is
underway to collate existing service outcomes/targets for services across
education, health and social care, in order to focus on narrowing the gap.
Analysis will focus on the proportion of children and young adults with SEND
and whether they are over represented in the identified outcomes. This will
then form part of the JSNA. The Joint commissioning strategy is being drawn
up in collaboration with health, social care and education commissioning
leads.
Next Steps
• Complete needs assessment work and agree shared outcomes based on
jointly agreed objectives
• Agree early joint commissioning intentions based on existing knowledge
of needs and demand
• Draft joint commissioning strategy in place by January 31st

Person centred planning – user voice
http://www.leics.gov.uk/index/children_families/family/send/send_events.htm
26.

A comprehensive training programme has been developed for professionals
and practitioners across education, health and care partners between
September 2014 and July 2015, in the first instance. Families have
contributed to the design of the training that will include face to face sessions
as well as e-learning packages. There will also be training for families about,
for example, how to use Personal Budgets so that they can be more active in
supporting the plan for their child.
Next Steps
• Workforce development plan to be implemented between September
2014 and July 2015
• Training for families and young people to be planned and implemented

Communication and Engagement strategy
27.

Raising awareness is a priority and there is a comprehensive communications
and engagement strategy which has been drawn up with the council’s
communications team, working closely with the health communications lead to
ensure a joined up approach. Information has been sent to schools and other
providers and officers have attended a number of briefings for headteachers,
Chairs of Governors and Special Needs Co-ordinators. All families of children
who have a statement of special educational need have received a letter to
explain what will be happening and how this will affect them. Families have
been involved in the content and design of all the communication material.

31

Next Steps
• Recruit Disabled Young Person’s Champion
• Continued engagement with young people to establish a sustainable
systematic approach
ICT requirements
28.

The shift in working practices and procedures has enabled the project to
devise more efficient systems of working that look to optimise ICT solutions
and reduce bureaucracy/paper-based systems. Transfer from the ‘Statement
of SEN’ processes to an integrated education, health and care plan required
changes to the current ICT platform. Further work is underway regarding
information management with schools and other providers. Administration and
management arrangements for Personal Budgets across education, health
and care needs to be determined. As stated earlier, the need to work together
on Personal Budgets is a priority area for phase 2 of the implementation of
SEND reform. The Local Offer will also need a sustainable and
comprehensive ICT platform to comply fully with the requirements set out in
the Code of Practice and recommendations from parents and carers.
Next Steps
• Work with enabling projects to determine the Local Offer platform and
administration system for Personal Budgets
• Continue to work with all partners, including health professionals to
determine arrangements for information management to work towards a
single view of the child

Consultation/Patient and Public involvement
29.

Throughout the development of SEND reform there has been liaison and joint
working with parents and carers to assist in shaping and designing processes,
materials and policy. A priority is the continued engagement of children and
young people in the development and delivery of phase two.

Resource implications
30.

The SEND reform project is tasked with setting up new systems and ways of
working with partners across education, health and social care as set out in
the Children and Families Act and accompanying guidance. The SEND
reform brings with it additional burdens for which no additional resource has
been identified in council or direct schools grant funding. The SEND project is
timetabled to conclude on 31st March 2016, at which point these additional
burdens will be part of business as normal operating across education social
care and health services.

31.

The new systems and initiatives put in place are utilising existing systems as
far as is practical, but adopting more efficient ways of working. Underpinning
the reform work is the development of more robust commissioning and
building local capacity in communities to enable needs to be met flexibly and

32

independently of the local authority except for those most severe and complex
cases.
32.

There are a number of joint health and local authority responsibilities that will
need to be jointly commissioned to ensure the most efficient and effective use
of resources and to avoid duplication or segregated responses to need, these
will be reflected in the joint commissioning strategy.

Conclusion
33.

We are confident about the start that has been made in implementing SEND
reform. However, the cultural shift that is now required to meet the aspiration
of phase two is more challenging. The next steps which underpin phase two
need to be mapped out with clear timelines and milestones. We need to
develop better integrated working across complex organisational and
governance structures to draw out the common threads which can be
prioritised and will come together to ensure that all the statutory requirements
are met in full. With regard to development of a joint commissioning strategy
and the expectations of health professionals, we need to ensure that the
Health and Wellbeing Board receives regular progress updates.
34. We propose to report to the Health and Wellbeing board at every meeting
between now and March 2016. Reporting will focus on the key elements
which are dependent the strong partnership working between health
professionals and the local authority. The Department of Health guidance
makes reference to the Disabled Children’s Charter which sets out 7
commitments and a vision statement for each Board. We intend to bring a
further paper to the Board to outline the implications of this in the spring of
2015.
Recommendations
(a) That the report be noted;
(b) That updates on work to progress the SEND reforms be submitted to each
meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board until March 2016;
(c) That a report outlining the implications of the Disabled Children’s Charter be
submitted to the Health and Wellbeing Board in Spring 2015.
Officer to Contact
Gill Weston
Assistant Director – Education and Learning
Children and Family Services
Tel: 0116 305 7813
Email: gill.weston@leics.gov.uk

33

Agenda Item 8

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 22 JANUARY 2015
REPORT OF LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
UPDATE OF JOINT HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY 2013-16
Purpose of report
1. Leicestershire's Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) published its first Joint Health and
Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) in January 2013, covering the period 2013-2016. The JHWS
is a key strategic document for the HWB guiding the strategic plans of the local partner
organisations who commission service to improve the health and wellbeing of the people
of Leicestershire.
2. The strategy was developed based on the 2012 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and
reflects the main health and wellbeing issues facing the population of Leicestershire.
3. It is essential to review the JHWS regularly to ensure that the priorities within the strategy
are challenged and refreshed to take into account:
a. key national and local policy developments affecting the health and care system;
b. new and improved evidence about the needs of our populations; and
c. innovation affecting the delivery of our health and care system.
4. This report reviews the current JHWS and proposes changes based on the new health
and social system to ensure that the strategy through to 2016 reflects those system
changes and that the key health and wellbeing issues are continuing to be addressed.
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
5.

The existing JHWS was published in January 2013, following approval by the
Shadow Health and Wellbeing Board.

Background
6. The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy was published in January 2013.1 The strategy
is the Health and Wellbeing Board's response to the health and wellbeing needs
identified in the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. It sets out the key priorities that
partners need to address in order to improve the health and wellbeing of the population.
7. The 2013-16 strategy identified five key outcomes:
a. Outcome 1: Getting it right from childhood;
b. Outcome 2: Managing the shift to early intervention and prevention;
c. Outcome 3: Supporting the ageing population;
d. Outcome 4: Improving mental health and wellbeing; and
e. Cross cutting theme: Tackling the wider determinants of health by influencing
other Boards.

34
8. There have been significant changes to the health and care system since
Leicestershire's JHWS was developed, for example:
a. embedding the changes to the health and social care system which came into
effect April 2013;
b. responding to the NHS Mandate 2014-2016;
c. implementation of The Care Act 2014;3
d. responding to the Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) reforms;4
e. setting a national and local vision for integration including the introduction of the
Better Care Fund (BCF) in April 2014;5
f. the development of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) Five Year
Plan "Better Care Together" (BCT) in June 2014;6
g. the addition of learning disabilities as a priority within the JHWS, linked to the
HWB's response to the findings of the Winterbourne View Review;7 and
h. a comprehensive review of the LLR urgent care system undertaken between June
and November 2014.
9. Looking ahead to 2015/16 it is anticipated that there will be further significant changes to
the commissioning landscape - for example:
a. the introduction of co-commissioning for primary care;
b. scaling up integrated personal commissioning;
c. the transition of health visitor commissioning into public health ;
d. the introduction of the Care Act; and
e. continued unprecedented financial pressure on public services in the context of an
ageing population and rising demands.
10. It is necessary to review the strategy in light of the changes to ensure that we continue to
make key progress in improving the health and wellbeing of the population.
Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
11. The public were consulted on the inclusion of learning disabilities as a priority at a
stakeholder event in February and was endorsed by the participants.
12. The refresh of the JSNA and the 2016-19 JHWS will be subject to wider stakeholder
engagement.

Conclusions/Recommendations
13. The Health and Wellbeing Board are asked to
a. APPROVE the reformat of the strategy to align it with the current key strategic
drivers of the local health and wellbeing partnership.
b. NOTES the incorporation of Learning Disabilities as a priority.
c. AGREE to use the performance frameworks of the Unified Prevention Board,
Integration Executive, Learning Disabilities Board and the LCC Corporate
Strategy to measure progress against the delivery of the strategy. In addition to
these reports, the HWB performance reports will continue to include updates on
CCG performance and local provider performance.
d. DELEGATE responsibility to the JSNA/ JHWS Steering Board for:
i. monitoring the action plans of the key health and social care drivers and
providing assurance to the HWB that the collective action plans will deliver
the key objectives of the JHWS.
2

35
ii. measuring progress against the key outcomes identified in the JHWS
through the HWB performance report on a quarterly basis, with operational
delivery led by the sub-groups and their respective action plans.
e. APPROVE the work programme to fully refresh the JHWS in 2016, incorporating
refreshed JSNA findings, along with further work relating to the key strategic
drivers for health and care outlined in this document.

Officer to Contact
Mike Sandys
Telephone:
Email:

Director of Public Health
0116 3054239
mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk

Cheryl Davenport
Telephone:
Email:

Director of Health and Social Care Integration
0116 3054212
cheryl.daveport@leics.gov.uk

List of Appendices
Update of Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2013-16

3

36

This page is intentionally left blank

37

APPENDIX
LEICESTERSHIRE JOINT HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY
JANUARY 2015
UPDATE OF JOINT HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY 2013-16

This report has been prepared by the JSNA/ JHWS Steering Board on behalf
of the Health and Wellbeing Board
Key Contacts:
Mike Sandys
Director of Public Health
mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk
Cheryl Davenport
Director of Health and Care Integration
cheryl.davenport@leics.gov.uk
Janine Dellar
Head of Epidemiology and Public Health Intelligence
janine.dellar@leics.gov.uk
January 2015

38

1.

Purpose of the report

Leicestershire’s Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) published its first Joint Health and
Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) in January 2013,1 covering the period 2013-2016. The JHWS
is a key strategic document for the HWB guiding the strategic plans of the local partner
organisations who commission service to improve the health and wellbeing of the people
of Leicestershire.
The strategy was developed based on the 2012 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment2 and
reflects the main health and wellbeing issues facing the population of Leicestershire.
It is essential to review the JHWS regularly to ensure that the priorities within the strategy
are challenged and refreshed to take into account:

2.

•

key national and local policy developments affecting the health and care system;

•
•

new and improved evidence about the needs of our populations; and
innovation affecting the delivery of our health and care system.
Overview of Leicestershire’s Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2013-16

The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy was published in January 2013.1 The strategy is
the HWB’s response to the health and wellbeing needs identified in the Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment.2 It sets out the key priorities that partners need to address in order to
improve the health and wellbeing of the population.
The 2013-16 strategy identified the five key outcomes illustrated in Figure 1 and set out
below:
• Outcome 1: Getting it right from childhood;
• Outcome 2: Managing the shift to early intervention and prevention;
• Outcome 3: Supporting the ageing population;
• Outcome 4: Improving mental health and wellbeing; and
• Cross cutting theme: Tackling the wider determinants of health by influencing other
Boards.
(Outcome 5: Improving services for people with learning disabilities is NEW in 2014 more details about this can be found on page 10 of this report).

39

Figure 1: Leicestershire’s Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2013-16

40

3.

Refreshing the JHWS

There have been significant changes to the health and care system since Leicestershire’s
JHWS was developed, for example:
1. embedding the changes to the health and social care system which came into effect
April 2013;
2. responding to the NHS Mandate 2014-2016;
3. implementation of The Care Act 2014;3
4. responding to the Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) reforms;4
5. setting a national and local vision for integration including the introduction of the
Better Care Fund (BCF) in April 2014;5
6. the development of “Better Care Together” (BCT), the Leicester, Leicestershire and
Rutland (LLR) Five Year Plan, in June 2014;6
7. the addition of learning disabilities as a priority within the JHWS, linked to the
HWB’s response to the findings of the Winterbourne View Review;7 and
8. a comprehensive review of the LLR urgent care system undertaken between June
and November 2014.
Looking ahead to 2015/16 it is anticipated that there will be further significant changes to
the commissioning landscape – for example:
•
•
•
•
•

4.

the introduction of co-commissioning for primary care;
the scaling up of integrated personal commissioning;
the transition of health visitor commissioning into public health ;
the introduction of the Care Act; and
the continued unprecedented financial pressure on public services in the context of
an ageing population and rising demands.
Key factors considered in the JHWS Refresh
4.1.

Embedding the Health and Social Care Act

The Health and Social Care Act came into effect on 1st April 2013 and saw the formal
establishment of the Health and Wellbeing Board in Leicestershire. The act also resulted
in:
•

•

the formation of East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group
(CCG) and West Leicestershire CCG, with responsibility for commissioning care on
behalf of their communities;
the transfer of public health responsibilities to Leicestershire County Council; and

41

•

the establishment of NHS England, with key responsibilities for commissioning
primary care services.

This means that since Leicestershire’s JHWS was published, all of the organisations that
were involved in the development of the strategy have either taken on new responsibilities
or the organisations no longer exist and their responsibilities have been transferred to a
new organisation. The organisational changes have been significant and it is essential that
the JHWS is reviewed to ensure that it is driving the strategies of all these organisations,
as key partners in the HWB.
4.2.

The NHS Mandate 2014-2016

The NHS mandate is published annually by the Department of Health and sets out the
ambitions for all patients to have access to the opportunity for good health and access to
high quality effective services. The eight requirements in the mandate have been adapted
below to have wider relevance to the whole HWB partnership:8
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Help people live well for longer
Manage ongoing physical and mental health conditions
Help people to recover from episodes of ill health or following injury
Make sure people experience better care
Provide safe care
Encourage innovation;
Develop the wider role of community and partnerships in supporting access to, and
opportunity for, good health;
Make better use of resources.

These are key aspirations that thread through our existing JHWS.

42

4.3.

The Care Act 2014

The Care Act 20143 replaces a number of previous laws and aims provide a coherent
approach to adult social care in England. The Act consolidates and modernises the
framework of care and support law and sets out new duties for local authorities and
partners, and new rights for service users and carers.
The Care Act aims to achieve:
• clearer, fairer care and support;
•

wellbeing – physical, mental and emotional – of both the person needing care and
their carer;

•
•

prevention and delay of the need for care and support; and
people in control of their care.

The Care Act consolidates good practice in statute as well as bringing in new reforms. It
embeds and extends personalisation in social care as well as increasing the focus on
wellbeing and prevention. It enables local authorities and partners to have a wider focus
on the whole population in need of care, rather than just those with eligible needs and/or
who are state-funded. The new statutory principle of individual wellbeing underpins the
Act, and is the driving force behind care and support.
For people who need care and support, and their carers, there will be:
• better access to information and advice, preventative services, and assessment of
need;
• an entitlement to care and support (new for carers);
• a new model of paying for care, with a cap on the care costs for which an individual
is liable; and
• a common system across the country (national eligibility threshold).
Most of the changes take effect from April 2015. However, the major reforms to the way
that social care is funded – including the care cap and care account – will not come into
effect until April 2016. The core aims of The Care Act are firmly embedded in the JHWS.
4.4.

The Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Reforms

The Children and Families Act 2014 included significant changes for children and young
people in England with Special Educational Needs or Disabilities.9 The reforms extend the
SEN system from birth to 25 years and sets out the provision for children and young
people with SEND for education, health and social care. The aim of the reforms is to
support:
• the involvement of children, parents and young people in decision making;

43

•

the identification of children and young people’s needs;

•
•

collaboration between education, health and social care services to provide support;
high quality provision to meet the needs of children and young people with SEN;

•
•

greater choice and control for young people and parents over their support; and
successful preparation for adulthood, including independent living and employment.

The JHWS has a specific priority linked to children and the SEND reforms are well
represented within the strategy. The Council’s Children and Family Department will ensure
that statutory responsibilities required by the Children and Families Act 2014 in respect of
SEND are delivered effectively, through better early intervention, integrated assessment
and joint commissioning of services to deliver single education, health and social care
plans. It will also seek to improve the effectiveness of commissioning decisions and
allocation of resources.
4.5.

Integration and the Better Care Fund

The Better Care Fund (BCF) Plan for Leicestershire is a two year plan to deliver more
joined up care for the population using a pooled budget.5 It is based on our local vision for
integration as shown in the box below.

The Leicestershire Vision for Integration
We will create a strong, sustainable, person-centred and integrated health and care
system by 2018 which:
• Meets future demands.
• Supports the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland five year strategy.
• Improves outcomes for the local population.
The Leicestershire BCF Plan has four aims:
• Deliver measurable, evidence based improvements to the way our citizens and
communities experience integrated care and support.
• Increase the capacity and capability of integrated community services, so that
professionals and the public have confidence that more care and support can be
delivered in the community in the future.
• Transfer an agreed proportion of activity from acute to community settings on an
annual basis.
• Create and manage an efficient pooled budget to sustain integration within the local
health and care economy on an ongoing basis.

44

The changes for the people of Leicestershire that will be delivered by the Leicestershire
BCF programme link together into four key themes. These are:
• The Unified Prevention Offer - Bringing together prevention services in
Leicestershire’s communities into one consistent offer, including housing expertise
and support to carers. Providing local coordination for the prevention offer so that
•

vulnerable people have better access to information, help and advice.
Integrated, Proactive Care for those with Long Term Conditions – This will
consolidate integrated health and care teams in each locality; offer proactive case
management for those with complex conditions and/or the over 75s; and improve
records and data sharing to improve risk stratification, care planning and care
coordination.

•

•

Integrated Urgent Response – This will introduce integrated rapid response
community services, to avoid unnecessary hospital admissions for those who need
urgent assistance; establish a new rapid assessment service in the community for
frail older people; establish a new rapid assessment service in the community for
people who fall; and develop primary care seven day services which integrate
effectively with community based health and care services.
Hospital Discharge and Reablement – This will make significant improvements in
the timeliness and effectiveness of discharge pathways from hospital, especially for
frail older people, reducing the length of hospital stays; develop a new follow up
service for those in receipt of care packages on discharge from hospital;
consolidate, integrate and extend Leicestershire’s community based services into a
24/7 service with a single point of access - to focus on maintaining independence in
the community for as long as possible; and develop a new approach to joint
commissioning for outcome based reablement and domiciliary care services.

The interventions within Leicestershire’s BCF plan are designed to transform how
integrated care and support is experienced by local people, particularly outside of hospital.
This is fully embedded in the JHWS, particularly through the outcome linked to supporting
the ageing population.
4.6.

Better Care Together

Better Care Together (BCT) is a partnership of organisations across Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland’s Health and Social Care system. The Better Care Together
Strategy 2014-19, published in June 2014, is a 5 year strategic plan for Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland.6
The BCT strategy is aligned to three local authority (Leicester City, Leicestershire County
and Rutland County) Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategies. The workstreams and

45

pathways set out in the BCT Strategy are illustrated in Table 1 and Figure 2. The focus of
the BCT Strategy is providing effective care in the most appropriate setting across eight
overarching service models.
Table 1: The Better Care Together Strategy

The LLR five year strategy The five year strategy is The five year strategy sets
describes:

based on:

out:

The overall direction for the A comprehensive analysis Eight

overarching

service

models of health, care and of the system challenges we models - each reflecting the
support services that will face, due to our:
• Population profile
need to apply in five years’
• Configuration of
time across the whole health
services
• Utilisation of services
and care system operating
• Models of care delivery
in LLR
• Settings of care
delivery
•
Costs of care delivery
The steps needed to realise
• Feedback from
that vision; and
public/patients about
the priorities for
improvement from their
A roadmap to better outcomes
perspective
for our citizens

Figure 2: The BCT Strategy – workstreams and models of care

current situation and desired
outcomes in five years’ time,
identifying how change will be
made. These are:
• Urgent care
• Frail and older people
• Long term conditions
• Planned care
• Maternity and new born
services
• Children’s services
• Mental health
• Learning disabilities.

46

4.7.

Learning Disabilities

In 2014, learning disabilities has been established as an additional priority for the
Leicestershire JHWS. This is linked to the HWB’s response to the findings of the
Winterbourne View Review7 and was endorsed at a stakeholder event in February 2014.10
The JHWS priorities for learning disabilities are set out in the Winterbourne View Review
action plan which has the following objectives:
• understanding our people;
•
•

good services are available that support people well;
keeping people safe; and

•

the right workforce.
4.8.

Review of LLR Urgent Care System

Between June and November 2014 there was a review of urgent care across LLR. This
review was undertaken by Dr Ian Sturgess, a former senior consultant geriatrician with
extensive experience in the improvement of urgent care systems across the UK and
overseas.
The review found that the local system has the potential to be ‘high-performing’ but is
‘relatively fragmented with barriers to effective integrated working’. The report makes 183
recommendations for transformation and improvement. The recommendations focus on
issues relating to the following themes:
•
•
•

•

5.

Admission avoidance – ensuring people receive care in the setting best suited to
their needs rather than the Emergency Department.
Preventative care – putting more emphasis on helping people to stay well with
particular support to those with known long-term conditions or complex needs.
Improving processes within Leicester’s Hospitals – improving the Emergency
Department and patient flow within the hospitals to improve patient experience and
ensure there is capacity in all areas.
Discharge processes across whole system - ensuring there are simple
discharge pathways with swift and efficient transfers of care
Delivering the JHWS

To date, implementation of the strategy has been achieved by the development of action
plans and commissioning plans linked to the four key strategic outcomes of the JHWS with
assurance of delivery via the HWB Board.
Operational delivery has been achieved via a number of sub-groups of the HWB and

47

associated partnership boards, with their outputs feeding into a comprehensive
performance dashboard, reporting into the HWB quarterly.
Initial progress in delivering against the JHWS strategy was published in the Health and
Wellbeing Board’s Annual Report, in April 2014.10
In support of the cross cutting theme of the JHWS, the Director of Public Health’s Annual
Report 2014 focused on the wider determinants of health http://www.lsronline.org/reports/798675, and identified where partners can work more effectively
together to address the major causes of ill health and to tackle the wider determinants to
improve the health of the population.11
In response to some of the recent policy and system changes, the structure beneath the
HWB has been refreshed so that the delivery of the strategy is now led by two main sub
groups, namely the Integration Executive and the Unified Prevention Board. These two
groups are responsible for delivery of the majority of work contained within the Better Care
Fund plan.
There are some areas of the JHWS that do not fall within the remit of these 2 groups
boards and these are addressed via other existing governance arrangements. For
example, within individual departments within the local authority and within workstreams in
the LLR Better Care Together Programme. Primarily these relate to Children and Family
Services and Public Health. In addition, the multiagency Learning Disability Board
continues to lead the improvement of services for people with learning disabilities. Other
workstreams will be developed and delivered through the CCGs as set out in the East
Leicestershire and Rutland CCG Operating Plan (2014/15 –2015/16)12 and the West
Leicestershire CCG Operating Plan (2014/15 – 2015/16).13
In summary the delivery of the strategy is being directed by three primary groups:
•
•
•

The Integration Executive.
The Unified Prevention Board.
The Learning Disabilities Board.

In addition, the key priorities from each of the people’s departments in Leicestershire
(Children and Family Services, Adults and Communities and Public Health) have been
summarised as per the information reported in LCCs Strategic Plan 2014-18, “Leading
Leicestershire, Transforming Public Services”.14
To date, delivery of the strategy was progressed developing action plans and
commissioning plans linked to the four key strategic outcomes of the JHWS with

48

assurance of performance delivery via the HWB.
6.

Alignment of the JHWS Priority Outcomes to the new system drivers

Table 2 – Table 6 document the JHWS priorities and how these are being delivered,
through the NHS Mandate, Better Care Together, the Better Care Fund and Leicestershire
County Council’s Corporate Strategy.
This illustrates that there are effective delivery mechanisms in place for all of the priorities
that have been identified in the strategy. The main driver for many of the workstreams is
the BCF plan.
The BCF provides a framework that allows the HWB to focus on the specific partnership
programmes that will deliver real change in the areas that have been prioritised through
the BCF plan.
All HWB partners have agreed that these are the key areas of focus through this process
and these are the areas that will form the most significant programmes of work through the
second half of the strategy delivery. All the agreed priorities remain and there is a
significant programme of work that has been developed to support delivery against key
priorities. However, the major focus of the strategy has shifted into the areas that will be
delivered through the BCF plan.
In addition to the work that has been agreed through the BCF plan, there is a considerable
body of work taking place within the council to deliver the other priority actions in the
strategy – this work falls into the priority business of individual teams and is set out
through the Leicestershire County Council’s Corporate Strategy 2014-18.

Table 2: Giving Children the Best Start in Life

JHWS Priority

NHS Mandate Priority

BCT Priority
Workstream

BCF Theme

BCF Workstream

LCC Strategic Plan

Ensure positive start to
life for children and
families

Make sure people
experience better care

Maternity and neonates

Unified Prevention Offer

First contact

Early help and
children’s centres

Children’s services

Carers services
Child safeguarding
Advice and information

Improve health and
education outcomes for
looked after children

Develop the wider role
of community and
partnerships in
supporting access to,
and opportunity for,
good health

Children’s services

Improved outcomes for
vulnerable children and
those missing
education.

Healthy Children in
Care.
The provision of high
quality maternity
services

Make sure people
experience better care

Maternity and neonates

Breastfeeding and
Maternity Support

Good transition
between child and adult
services for children
with complex needs

Make sure people
experience better care

Children’s services

Good attainment and
high quality provision
for Care Leavers
Integrated care and
support for children with
SEND

49

Good attainment and
high quality provision
for Care Leavers.

Table 3: Managing the shift to early intervention and prevention

JHWS Priority

NHS Mandate Priority

BCT Priority
Workstream

BCF Theme

Increase the number of
people who are a
healthy weight

Help people to live well
for longer

Long term conditions

Unified Prevention Offer

BCF Workstream

LCC Strategic Plan

Healthy weight adults
Active young people
Active adults
Child healthy weight
and good diet

Reduce the harm
caused by alcohol and
drugs

Help people to live well
for longer

Mental health

Unified Prevention Offer

First contact
Advice and information

Reduce the harm of
substance misuse drugs and alcohol

50

Integrated housing
solutions
Improve sexual health
services

Make sure people
experience better care

Further reduce smoking
prevalence

Help people to live well
for longer

Reducing the number of
early deaths from
cancer

Help people to live well
for longer

Unified Prevention Offer
Improved sexual health
Long term conditions

Unified Prevention Offer

Unified Prevention Offer

Tobacco control and
smoking cessation
First contact
Advice and information

Make sure people
experience better care

Assistive technology
Carers services

Reduce cancer
mortality

Table 4: Improving mental health and wellbeing

JHWS Priority

NHS Mandate Priority

BCT Priority
Workstream

BCF Theme

BCF Workstream

LCC Strategic Plan

Promote positive mental
health promotion

Help people to live well
for longer

Mental Health

Unified Prevention Offer

Advice and information

Earlier mental health
detection and treatment

Integrated housing
solutions
Help people to live well
for longer

Mental Health

Improve the earlier
detection and
management of people
with common, severe
and enduring mental
health needs

Help people to live well
for longer

Mental Health

Earlier detection/
treatment of mental
health problems in
children
Unified Prevention Offer

First contact
Local area co-ordination

Manage ongoing
physical and mental
health conditions

Hospital discharge and
reablement

Effective support for
people with poor mental
health

Integrated housing
solutions
Improving mental health
discharge

Ensure the early
detection and treatment
of dementia and
support for people with
long term conditions

Help people to live well
for longer
Manage ongoing
physical and mental
health conditions

Mental Health

Unified Prevention Offer

First contact in primary
care
Local area co-ordination

Integrated proactive
care

Integrated health and
care crisis response
Memory plus service

Table 5: Supporting the ageing population

Better support for
people with dementia

51

Ensure the earlier
detection of mental
health problems in
children

JHWS Priority

NHS Mandate Priority

BCT Priority
Workstream

BCF Theme

BCF Workstream

LCC Strategic Plan

We will plan for an
ageing population

Help people live well for
longer

Frail older people

Unified Prevention Offer

Carers services

Long term conditions

Integrated proactive
care

Lightbulb

Unified prevention offer
and information and
support

Urgent care

First contact
Local area co-ordination
Integrated proactive
care for long term
conditions

We will maximise
independence of older
people

Manage ongoing
physical and mental
health conditions

Frail older people

Unified Prevention Offer

Long term conditions

First contact
Carers service
Time banking

More extra care
housing provision

52

Help people recover
from episodes of ill
health or following injury

Unified prevention offer
and information and
support

Information and advice
Carers assessments
Assistive technology
Local area co-ordination
Housing offer

We will seek to improve
the management of
long term conditions

Manage ongoing
physical and mental
health conditions
Help people recover
from episodes of ill
health or following injury
Make sure people

Frail older people

Integrated proactive
care

Integrated health and
care crisis response

Integrated urgent
response

Rapid assessment for
older persons unit

Hospital discharge and
reablement

7 day services in
primary care

Long term conditions

Integrated proactive
care for people with
long term conditions
Integrated urgent
response
Improved hospital
discharge and

JHWS Priority

NHS Mandate Priority

BCT Priority
Workstream

BCF Theme

experience better care

BCF Workstream

LCC Strategic Plan

Step down

reablement

Pro-active care (CCGs)
Pathways to housing

We will ensure care
homes adhere to high
quality standards

Provide safe care

Frail older people

Hospital discharge and
reablement

Integrated reablement

We will improve the
provision of end of life
care

Make sure people
experience better care

Frail older people

Integrated urgent
response

Integrated health and
care crisis response

7 day services in
primary care

53

Rapid assessment for
older persons unit

Improve care home and
care quality

Table 6: Learning Disabilities

JHWS Priority

NHS Mandate Priority

BCT Priority
Workstream

Understanding our
people

Help people to live well
for longer

Learning disabilities

BCF Theme

BCF Workstream

LCC Strategic Plan

Effective support for
people with learning
disabilities
Integrated care and
support for children with
special educational
needs and disabilities

Good services are
available that support
people well

Make better use of
resources

Learning disabilities

Unified prevention offer

LD – short breaks

Effective support for
people with learning
disabilities

Provide safe care

Keeping people safe

Provide safe care

Learning disabilities

Effective support for
people with learning
disabilities

The right workforce

Make better use of
resources

Learning disabilities

Effective support for
people with learning
disabilities

54

Integrated care and
support for children with
special educational
needs and disabilities

55

7.

Conclusions

The JHWS 2013-16 has been refreshed to include Learning Disability as an additional
priority, reflecting the renewed importance of this area.
The implementation of the JHWS 2013-16 has been aligned to the delivery mechanisms
for Better Care Together and the Better Care Fund
The key priorities for improving the health and wellbeing of our population are being
addressed through an integrated partnership approach that will deliver more effective care
for our population.
Addressing the needs of an ageing population and the anticipated growing demands this
will place on our health and care new system is a key priority for Leicestershire.
Success relies on the whole system works together more effectively and proactively to
improve health and wellbeing for our population – which must include a unified approach
to prevention in Leicestershire communities so that demand is stemmed by a greater
uptake of self care and low level support.
The key strategic themes for the strategy remain relevant, with their key work programmes
being delivered through core local authority business and our progress against these
priorities will continue to be monitored and reported to the Health Overview and Scrutiny
Committee. However, the focus of the HWB has changed and the key actions that the
HWB will be monitoring to measure their delivery against the strategy will be more strongly
aligned to the BCF delivery plans.

56

Figure 3 illustrates the refreshed strategy, incorporating learning disabilities and
demonstrating the way that the strategy is now being delivered in partnership through
health and social care integration.

57

Figure 3: The Refreshed Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2015-16

58

8.

Recommendations

It is recommended that:
1. The Health and Wellbeing Board approve the reformat of the strategy to align it with
the current key strategic drivers of the local health and wellbeing partnership.
2. The Health and Wellbeing Board notes the incorporation of Learning Disabilities as
a priority.
3. The Health and Wellbeing Board will use the performance frameworks of the
Unified Prevention Board, Integration Executive, Learning Disabilities Board and the
County Council’s Corporate Strategy to measure progress against the delivery of
the strategy. In addition to these reports, the HWB performance reports will
continue to include updates on CCG performance and local provider performance.
4. The JSNA/ JHWS Steering Board will:
a. Be responsible for monitoring the action plans of the key health and social
care drivers and providing assurance to the HWB that the collective action
plans will deliver the key objectives of the JHWS.
b. Continue to measure progress against the key outcomes identified in the
JHWS through the HWB performance report on a quarterly basis, with
operational delivery led by the sub groups and their respective action plans.
5. The JHWS will be fully refreshed in 2016, incorporating refreshed JSNA findings at
this stage, along with further work relating to the key strategic drivers for health and
care outlined in this document.
9.

References

1.

Leicestershire County Council. Leicestershire’s Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
2013-16. 38 (2013). at <http://www.leics.gov.uk/healthwellbeingboard.htm>

2.

Leicestershire County Council. Leicestershire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
2012.
(2012).
at
<http://www.lsronline.org/reports/leicestershire_joint_strategic_needs_assessment_jsna_2012_key
_documents>

3.

Great
Britain.
The
Care
Act
2014.
(2014).
<http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/pdfs/ukpga_20140023_en.pdf>

at

59

4.

Department for Education & Department of Health. SEND Code of Practice: 0-25
Years
Statutory
Guidance.
(2014).
<https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25>

at

5.

Leicestershire County Council. Better Care Fund Submission. (2014). at
<http://www.leics.gov.uk/healthwellbeingboard/bcfsubmission.htm>

6.

Better Care Together A Partnership of Leicester Leicestershire and Rutland Health
and Social Care. Better Care Together Plan 2014. (2014). at
<http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/information-library/better-care-together-plan2014/>

7.

Department of Health. Transforming Care: A national response to Winterbourne
View Hospital. Department of Health Review: Final Report. 62 (2012). at
<https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/2132
15/final-report.pdf>

8.

Departnment

of

Health.

The

Mandate

explained.

(2014).

at

<https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/2564
07/Mandate_explained.pdf>
9.

England.
Children
and
Families
Act
2014.
<http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted>

(2014).

at

10.

Leicestershire County Council. Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board Annual
Report. (2014). at <http://www.lsr-online.org/reports/787800>

11.

Director of Public Health & Leicestershire County Counil. The 2014 Annual Report of
the Director of Public Health The wider determinants of health. 56 (2014). at
<http://www.lsr-online.org/uploads/n0499-public-health-annual-report-2014.pdf>

12.

East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG. East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG
Operating
Plan
(2014/15
–
2015/16).
(2014).
at
<http://www.eastleicestershireandrutlandccg.nhs.uk/images/>

13.

West Leicestershire CCG. West Leicestershire CCG Operating Plan (2014/15 –
2015/16).
(2014).
at
<http://www.westleicestershireccg.nhs.uk/page/operationalplan>

14.

Leicestershire County Council. Leading Leicestershire: Transforming Public
Sercices. Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2014-18. (2014). at

60

<http://lccedrms4:8087/Intranet
File
Plan/Management/Corporate
Communication/Campaigns/leading leicestershire transforming public services.pdf>

61

Agenda Item 9

HEALTH AND WELL BEING BOARD: 22 JANUARY 2015
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES
AND DIRECTOR OF HEALTH AND CARE INTEGRATION
IMPROVING THE URGENT CARE SYSTEM IN LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE
AND RUTLAND: FOCUS ON HOSPITAL DISCHARGE
Purpose of Report
1. To provide an analysis of hospital discharge performance and assurance of
actions being taken to improve performance, in the context of the changes
underway across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland to improve the urgent
care system.
Background, policy framework and previous decisions
2. Nationally the NHS is expected to transform the delivery of urgent care in line
with the Urgent and Emergency Care Review led by Sir Bruce Keogh and
Professor Keith Willets.
http://www.nhs.uk/NHSEngland/keoghreview/Documents/uecreviewupdate.FV.pdf
3. This is in recognition that we continue to place an over reliance on urgent and
acute care within England’s health and care system. With our demographic
profile of an ageing population with increasing numbers of long term
conditions, including those associated with frailty and dementia, our care
system is becoming unsustainable in its current form. England’s health and
care system now needs to adapt rapidly and offer more preventative services
alongside integrated, effective, resilient and sustainable community based
alternatives to urgent and acute care.
4. The national Urgent and Emergency Care review was carried out in two
phases during 2013 and 2014 and the findings and implications of the review
have since been translated into the NHS Mandate
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nhs-mandate-2015-to-2016
which sets out what the NHS is expected to deliver on an annual basis.
5. The requirement to redesign urgent care was further reinforced in NHS
England’s Five Year Forward View publication in 2014, which calls for the
introduction of new models of care across a range of services, including
urgent care. http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/5yfvweb.pdf

62

SECTION A: An overview of discharge requirements and the impact of delayed
discharges.
6. Delays in discharging people from hospital are governed by the Delayed
Discharges Act (2003) which sets out the process by which discharges occur
and how these are measured and reported.
7. Delayed discharges refer to those people who are medically fit to leave
hospital but are awaiting arrangements to be made to enable them to be
discharged. They may be going home (with or without support), to a care
home, or to another hospital setting.
8. The definition(s) of a delayed transfer of care and how this is measured is
described in more detail in Appendix 1.
9. Not all people who are deemed medically fit for discharge are a delayed
transfer of care per the nationally defined definition(s). However the
aspiration of all agencies in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland is that all
patients who are medically fit to move out of hospital setting will do so as
soon as possible, irrespective of the national definition of a “delayed transfer.”
10. This is because from a patient outcome perspective, no one should stay in
hospital longer than medically necessary. Being delayed in hospital can lead
to a loss of mobility, mental and physical function, place people at risk of
acquiring secondary infections and ultimately impact on a person’s
independence and ability to return home.
11. Such delays also significantly affect the urgent care system as a whole e.g.
they affect patient in flow and out flow from hospital beds, and affect service
delivery and performance across the entire system of acute care, community
care, primary care and social care.
12. Most people leaving hospital do not need any additional support or are
supported by their family/carer. Some patients will continue to require health
care support to go home either because they need further treatment or
rehabilitation at home or they are eligible for health funded Continuing Health
Care. Some patients need social care support to go home in the form of
equipment or home care to help with personal care tasks.
13. There are a range of reasons why someone’s transfer of out hospital may be
delayed; some of these problems are internal to hospital processes such as
awaiting a doctor to agree the discharge or waiting for medication or transport
to be arranged, other reasons are delays to transferring into NHS community
beds/services, into a residential care home, into a home care package, or for
equipment/adaptations in the home.

63

14. Fundamental to effective care transfer is designing a streamlined discharge
service which places patients at the centre of the approach, assesses their
individual needs and priorities, and coordinates the most appropriate and
effective treatment, advice , and reablement in support of their discharge
needs. Where applicable this should include assessing and addressing a
carer’s needs for support.
15. Effective discharge requires close liaison and communication with NHS
community based services, GP practices, housing services, domiciliary care
providers, nursing and care homes, community based voluntary sector
support, as well as with carers and families themselves.
16. Patients and carers should feel empowered to manage their care,
rehabilitation, and transfer and receive health and social care that is delivered
in a seamless and integrated manner.
17. The provisions on the discharge of hospital patients with care and support
needs are contained in schedule 3 of the Care Act 2014 and the Care and
Support Regulations 2014.
18. These provisions aim to ensure that the NHS and local authorities work
together effectively and efficiently to plan the safe and timely discharge of
NHS hospital patients into local authority care and support services where
applicable.
19. Communication between the NHS and local authorities about the discharge
of inpatients is achieved through operational joint working within hospitals
and social community based teams. Documentation includes the use of
“section 2” and “section 5” notifications (named after the sections of the
Delayed Discharges Act of 2003).
20. A section 2 requires the NHS to notify the local authority of any patient’s likely
need for community care services – it is a trigger for assessment and care
planning, and the Act sets out the requirement for the local authority Social
services to assess within 3 days.
21. A section 5 notifies the local authority of the proposed date of the patient’s
discharge. On receipt of a section 5 notification the local authority has 24
hours to put in place community care services (notifications received after
2pm on a Friday and Saturday, or 5pm other days are counted as received
on the following day).
22. Successful discharge relies on an agreed set of information being provided
about each person being discharged so that core information needed
between agencies is clearly recorded and shared to enable a safe transfer of
care. This is sometimes referred to as the “safe transfer minimum data set.”
This is essential information to achieve a clear and smooth discharge and to

64

document the formal transfer of professional accountability for the care and
treatment of the individual being discharged from one organisation to
another.
SECTION B: Local Context for Redesigning Urgent Care in Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland
Better Care Together
23. The redesign of an urgent care system within any health and care economy
is a complex undertaking. It requires a number of critical elements such as:
a. A fundamental review of the inflow and outflow of patients across
multiple organisational boundaries and care pathways
b. A clear understanding of the reasons for the current position and the
case for change, including achieving a clear and shared understanding
of the relationship and dependencies across all dimensions of the
health and care system.
c. An evidence base supporting the case for change and proposed
solutions for improving inflow and outflow, including how the impact will
be measured and the rate of improvement to be achieved.
d. Strong joint leadership to implementing new pathways and
interventions across the system, which are likely to require significant
cultural change within/across organisations and with the public
e. A shared vision and financial plan for achieving quick wins and medium
term sustainable solutions
24. In Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland’s (LLR’s) health and care system
local partners across the whole health and care system are already tackling
the redesign of Urgent Care as part of Better Care Together a five year
programme to transform a range of health and care pathways across LLR.
There is recognition that our work to redesign urgent care is bot short term
operational pressures related but also must focus on medium term solutions.
25. The case for change, supporting evidence base and future vision for LLR was
developed during 2014, culminating in the publication of the Better Care
Together (BCT) Five Year Plan in June 2014.
26. A Strategic Outline (investment) Case and detailed delivery plans for each of
the BCT “workbooks” (e.g. Urgent Care, Older People, Planned Care etc.)
have since been developed.

65

27. In 2014 the government introduced the Better Care Fund which has provided
local authorities and their NHS partners with early opportunities to support
the redesign of urgent care in their local areas.
Leicestershire’s Better Care Fund
28. In order to meet national and local delivery requirements, Leicestershire’s
Better Care Fund Plan, which is discharged through a pooled budget, must
demonstrate how the interventions within the plan will reduce emergency
admissions, improve hospital discharge, improve reablement and prevention
and support people to remain independent in the community for as long as
possible.
29. A proportion of the Better Care Fund is subject to payment by results to drive
early achievement in reducing emergency admissions during 2015.
30. Crucially, Better Care Fund Plans are joint plans across the health and care
system. They have to be approved at Health and Wellbeing Board level and
require the explicit endorsement of acute sector partners.
31. Leicestershire’s Better Care Fund Plan was submitted and approved by NHS
England in 2014. It is constructed under 4 themes:
a. Unified Prevention
b. Long Term Conditions
c. Integrated Urgent Response (4 schemes targeted to reducing
emergency admissions)
d. Hospital Discharge and Reablement
e. BCF Plan on a Page
http://www.leics.gov.uk/leics_county_bcf_submission_supplementary_
appendix_b_bcf_plan_on_a_page.pdf and link to full document
http://www.leics.gov.uk/healthwellbeingboard/bcfsubmission.htm
Dr Ian Sturgess’ Report and Recommendations
32. Given the scale and complexity of the challenges we face in LLR, the health
and care economy commissioned independent clinical adviser Dr Ian
Sturgess to review our current position with respect to Urgent Care and
provide recommendations based on his global expertise in this field.
33. The review was conducted between mid-May 2014 and mid-November 2014
by Dr Ian Sturgess, a former senior consultant geriatrician with extensive
experience in the improvement of urgent care systems across the UK and
overseas.

66

34. During the six-month review period, Dr Sturgess spent time with clinicians
and staff in primary care, acute and community hospitals, mental health
services, NHS 111 and out of hours care, urgent care centres and social care
teams to identify improvements across the health and social care system in
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.
35. Due to the nature and number of providers and services in primary and
community services, Dr Sturgess was unable to visit everyone. However, his
time spent in the wider system was spread between health and social care
and focused on those services which have the most links with urgent and
emergency care.
36. Dr Sturgess’ full report and the system-wide action plan put in place to
address the issues he raises were published via all three CCG Governing
Body meetings in December 2014 and reported in the local media.
http://www.westleicestershireccg.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/Paper%20G%20%20LLR%20Urgent%20Care%20Review.pdf
37. Dr Sturgess found that; “The local system has the potential to be highperforming but is relatively fragmented with barriers to effective integrated
working. Performance against the national 4-hour wait standard for the
Emergency Department is a reflection of the performance of the whole health
and care system”.
38. The findings of the report focus on 4 themes:
a. Admission avoidance – ensuring people receive care in the setting
best suited to their needs rather than the Emergency Department.
b. Preventative care – putting more emphasis on helping people to stay
well with particular support to those with known long-term conditions or
complex needs.
c. Improving processes within Leicester’s Hospitals – improving the
Emergency Department and patient flow within the hospitals to improve
patient experience and ensure there is capacity in all areas.
d. Discharge processes across whole system - ensuring there are a
small number of simple discharge pathways with swift and efficient
transfers of care
39. The recommendations have supported and strengthened LLR’s existing
approach to redesigning the urgent care system and have been mapped into
existing short and medium terms plans.

67

SECTION C: Overview of Performance Management of Urgent Care
40. Within the NHS, Clinical Commissioning Groups are responsible for
commissioning urgent/acute care including accident and emergency and
ambulance services, and are accountable to NHS England for the delivery of
the associated performance and quality targets.
41. Depending on the level of escalation in each area of the country,
daily/weekly/monthly reporting into government departments and individual
organisations is taking place.
42. Along with performance reporting into CCG Boards and NHS Trust Boards,
across England multiagency “System Resilience Groups” oversee the
performance of the local health and care system including urgent care
performance.
43. A number of areas within England have been designated as challenged
health economies due to ongoing poor urgent care performance and these
areas have been subject to additional performance management by NHS
England over the last 12 months.
44. This includes the LLR health and care economy where, in addition to the
System Resilience Group, a weekly meeting takes place, called the Urgent
Care Board, which is targeted to improving the operational day to day
position of the urgent care system.
45. The Health and Wellbeing Board receives quarterly reports on performance
across the health and care system through the performance dashboard and
has received specific reports on the issues affecting the urgent care system
during the last 12 months, including reports from Local Health Watch.
46. Performance of the Urgent Care System is measured through a number of
national measures including for example the performance against the
accident and emergency 4 hour wait, the rate of emergency admissions,
ambulance performance and delayed transfers of care.
47. In terms of performance against the national waiting time standard for
accident and emergency, which is an indicator of overall urgent care system
performance, the national target states that 95% of patients should be seen
within 4 hours.
48. The latest (national – England) performance data for the period October to
December 2014 shows the target was not achieved in the last quarter, with
performance at 92.6%, and a deteriorating position is being reported into
January 2015.

68

49. Over recent weeks the pressure on emergency care across the country has
been escalating. Approximately 6-12 acute trusts in England declared major
incidents in order to cope with demand seen over the Christmas period 2014,
and this situation has persisted well into January 2015.
50. This has placed increased political and media scrutiny on the NHS urgent
care system, and upon the barriers and contributory factors to urgent care
capacity and performance generally e.g:
a. The availability, capacity and uptake of alternatives to accident and
emergency attendances e.g. use of NHS 111, urgent care walk in
centres, GP services, pharmacy advice.
b. The responsiveness of adult social care services and NHS community
services in assessing, sourcing and arranging care for patients outside
of hospital once someone is medically fit for discharge.
c. The ability of the ambulance service to respond to peaks in demand,
including the impact on handover times incurred at busy accident and
emergency units, and the impact on response times generally for both
999 and non-life threatening ambulance calls.
51. In terms local performance in LLR, University Hospitals of Leicester’s (UHL’s)
accident and emergency department performance was 88.7% against the
95% target for accident and emergency as at December 2014 (year to date
figure) and a deteriorating position was reported into early January 2015.
52. UHL has declared major internal incidents on several occasions in recent
months to address pressures of demand, but these did not result in closing to
admissions, and at the time of writing this report UHL do not currently have a
major incident in progress.
53. The position with respect to trends in emergency admissions is as follows:
The total number of emergency admissions across LLR in 2012/13 were
91,898 and in 2013/14 were 89, 268
54. The total number emergency admissions across LLR in 2014/15 April to
November 2014 is estimated at 64,779 (e.g. part year). This is subject to
further validation.
55. UHL emergency admissions (all adults) running at approx. 221 per day in
December 2014 (source UHL Board report).
56. Although the admissions figures for 2014/15 are yet to be finalised and
validated it is expected that admissions locally will have risen by at least 6%
in 2014/15, with some areas of the country forecasting an11% increase in
this financial year.

69

57. The context of our performance on delayed transfers of care must therefore
be understood within a rising trend in admissions being experienced
nationally and locally.
SECTION D How are delayed discharges measured and how are we
performing?
58. There are three metrics that are used to measure delayed transfers of care
and this can lead to different figures being presented by different agencies.
59. Appendix 1 describes the definition for each metric and our current
performance.
60. If using all patient delays (ASCOF measure Part 1) at the end of November
2014 the average number of patients delayed per 100,000 population was
17.44, which represents an increase of 6.69 (or 62.2%) above the level
reported for November 2013.
61. If using just the combined adult social care and NHS patient delays (ASCOF
measure Part 2) at the end of November 2014 the average number of
patients delayed per 100,000 population was 4.22, which represents an
increase of 2.19 (or 107.9%) above the level reported for November 2013.
62. If using the Better Care Fund Metric, which is an average of all delayed bed
days per month per 100,000 adult population, as at the end of November
2014 the average number of delayed days per month was 403.17, an uplift of
46.62 (or 13.1%) above the 2014/15 Q3 target of 356.55
63. In addition to the above metrics the NHS measures delays by the total
number of patients delayed divided by the total number of occupied beds.
64. As of 27 November 2014, against the national target of 3.5%, current
performance for Leicestershire patients delayed at UHL is at 5.65%, for LPT
(community hospitals) is at 17.69% and for all providers is at 7.33%
65. Appendix 1 illustrates that, irrespective of the delayed discharge
definition/measure used, we are currently under performing in terms of
hospital discharge as a health and care system.
66. In terms of delays that are attributable to social care alone, this currently
represents 12% of all delayed discharges in Leicestershire.
67. The graph below shows the relative position of Leicestershire’s adult social
care delays compared to its peer group of councils.

70

68. Leicestershire’s performance has deteriorated since September and is now at
3.1, but we do not yet have comparator figures available from the peer group.
69. As we have already agreed that one of our health and system wide
priorities within Better Care Together is that no one who is medically fit
for discharge should stay in a hospital bed longer than necessary, local
partners have been developing a joint analysis of the position and have
put in place a joint response, through the work of the Urgent Care
Board.
SECTION E: Reasons for our deteriorating performance
70. Recent analysis suggests a number of factors have placed pressure on our
ability to discharge people swiftly from hospital once medically fit within our
urgent care system.
71. Due to this there is not one single factor, or one single solution to this position
so our joint response has to address a number of concurrent issues within
the local health and care system.
72. The current position has been affected by a combination of factors including:
a. Changes to patient flow such as:i. the upward trend in emergency admissions
ii. increases in elective care throughput to meet the national 18
week target
b. More proactive work to discharge people more rapidly from hospital
(reduction in length of stay)

71

c. Operational barriers across the health and care system
d. Operational/process barriers within individual organisations
e. Impact of patient choice on discharge planning
f. Lack of an integrate capacity planning approach across the health and
care system, in particular to predict surges in demand
g. Unintended consequences of actions taken in response to operational
pressures during the last 12 months.
73. Analysis shows an increase in admissions of at least 6% already this financial
year across LLR which will have placed additional demands right across the
health and care system including into discharge planning and into social care
services.
74. Analysis shows an increase in elective activity (planned operations), in
particular from July 2014 onwards, to improve local performance on the
achievement of the 18 week pathway for planned care. This is a positive
action by commissioners and providers in the NHS to invest in reducing the
waiting for patients in key specialities.
75. Analysis shows a reduction in the average length of stay for patients in UHL.
This is a positive action by NHS commissioners and providers in terms of
progressing more timely discharge and minimising the negative impact of
longer stays in hospital on both patients themselves and the health and care
system as a whole.
76. In response to operational pressures there has been an approach taken to
fast track certain cases through the health and care system. At times this can
lead to ineffective/inefficient decisions affecting care packages, and/or over
commissioning of care, which can in turn lead to readmissions or further rapid
work needed in the community to adjust assumptions.
77. Further analysis is needed on readmission trends and causes to assess the
impact of this during 2014/15 so that lessons learned can be extracted into
future operational policy.
78. NHS related delays have been increasing – which can be seen in the
analysis of delayed bed days in LPT’s community hospitals (see appendix 2).
79. Continuing Health Care pressures continue to grow both financially and
operationally which is also a contributing factor to the capacity constraints
within the overall health and care system.
80. Targeting freeing up capacity in community hospitals will have a positive
effect on system flow throughout our health and care system. CCGs are

72

already undertaking additional analysis into the reasons for delays in this
cohort of patients and more information may be available about the findings
of this work by the time of the HWB Board meeting in January.
81. Pressure on discharge from both acute and community hospital settings has
also been caused by limitations to local care home capacity and home care
services capacity. The impact can be seen when:
a. The care needed is not available or not available at the exact
specification requested (times of day, preference/skills of carer etc.)
b. The nursing/care home place of choice may not be available at the
time of discharge
c. The home situation requires further work before a person can go home
so a longer stay in a community hospital bed/temporary stay in a care
home may be needed.
82. A cohort of people have been discharged from UHL over the last 6-8 months
into temporary care home placements, while their needs are further
assessed.
83. This action was taken by NHS commissioners as an operational response to
free up capacity in the acute sector, but has led to some unintended
consequences.
84. The capacity of the local care home market has been affected by these
interim “discharge to assess” cases, further exacerbated by a proportion of
these cases then being unable to move on to other settings of care.
85. There are also some acknowledged internal barriers within UHL affecting
discharge such as delays caused by awaiting clinical decisions, waiting for
medication or transport to be arranged, the need to streamline discharge
processes generally in conjunction with other agencies, and the need for
additional advice and support needed from community staff such as primary
care coordinators in order to build awareness/confidence in discharge
planning when accessing community alternatives.
86. There are also a number of workforce factors affecting staffing into urgent
care nationally and locally.
87. UHL now have an active action plan in place to address the internal process
barriers which are affecting the urgent care system as a whole and this set of
actions forms part of the overall LLR integrated urgent care action plan.
88. There are acknowledged pressures and capacity problems in the county’s
home care market which have led to a rise in the number of people waiting
for care packages.

73

89. This has been coupled with ongoing operational problems being experienced
within/related to the home care market including:
a. ‘Recruitment and retention problems by some care providers
b. Inability to find carers in some rural areas
c. Unprofitable cases for providers where the cost of care and travel do
not provide an economic incentive
d. ‘Silting up’ of the care pathway by cases being ‘stuck’ in reablement
and unable to move on
e. Commissioning of large packages of care for Continuing Health Care
patients, with delays in reviewing these and realising the potential to
step down and free up care capacity.
90. Since November 2014, the LA has put in place a new system to review care
packages two week post discharge. There is emerging evidence from this
process of some ‘over prescribing’ of care by hospital and local authority staff
at the point of discharge.
91. This has resulted in more capacity being used than was potentially actually
needed in a proportion of recent cases. The review process is releasing a
significant number of hours of care per week back into the system which is
gradually having a positive impact on capacity.
SECTION F: Summary Of Findings
92. It can be seen from the above analysis that we have experienced a number
of patient flow changes in the health and care system over the last 12
months.
93. Some of these are very positive changes taken by commissioners and
providers in the NHS to improve patient care, the impact of which could have
been better predicted in terms of their timing and impact on the throughput of
activity into discharge flows, including into care home pressures and home
care packages.
94. It can also be seen from the above analysis that we have experienced a
number of operational issues and barriers (further endorsed by Ian Sturgess’
report) that have prevented:
a. The health and care system from responding effectively in a
coordinated way to changes in patients flows
b. Existing routine systems and pathways to operate optimally, including
during periods of increased activity.

74

95. This indicates the need for more effective joint working operationally and a
more sophisticated approach to modelling activity flows and undertaking
capacity planning across the system, so that a more coordinated and
effective response can be in place, in particular to respond to surges in
activity.
SECTION G: Actions in Progress to Reduce Delayed Discharges
96. The redesign of Urgent Care in LLR is being delivered through two elements
of work focused on both the short term and medium term position
a. Short term (tactical) actions
i. The LLR Integrated Urgent Care Action Plan (November 2014 –
April 2015)
ii. Governance: LLR Urgent Care Board
b. Medium term solutions
i. The “Better Care Together” LLR Five Year Plan (Urgent Care
Workstream)
ii. Governance: LLR Better Care Together Delivery Board
97. The Urgent Care Board has developed an integrated action plan to address
the overall issues affecting the urgent care system in LLR. The action plan is
constructed around three areas:
a. Reducing DEMAND (inflow) through “out of hospital care” to ease
pressure on the emergency department.
b. Increasing FLOW through UHL and community hospitals to optimise
capacity
c. Improving DISCHARGE (outflow) to minimise length of stay and
maximise recovery

75

98. One of the key actions being taken is to simplify and streamline the discharge
pathways for LLR into the pathways into the pathways indicated on this
diagram:

Table 1 below summarises the actions being taken within the LLR Integrated
Urgent Care Action Plan to improve discharge (outflow)
Implementation of new
discharge pathways

•

•

Assessment and Information
sharing

•

•

Pilot scheme for pathway 2 (home with
support) underway within the county – first
20 patients currently being evaluated.
Pilot schemes being put into place across
LLR for pathway 3 (Bedded enablement
placement) in progress
Minimum data set for discharge has been
agreed by all partners – this will give a
coherent assessment and improve
communication between all partners,
including care homes
Electronic solution identified and is in the
process of being implemented

76

Effective use of resources

•

•

•

•

•
•

•

•

•
•
•
•
•

Effective commissioning

•

Processes internal to UHL are being
reviewed to avoid delays e.g. pharmacy
responsiveness, increasing consultant cover
at weekends.
Improved protocols in all community
hospitals so that the right level of need is
assessed, informal care is maximised, and
avoid over prescribing of formal care.
Joint workshops with UHL and social care
staff to promote greater understanding and
improve sizing of care packages - to include
promotion of alternatives such as the VCS
hospital to home service/ informal support/
meals only provision/ shopping calls.
Targeted Early Reviews within 2 weeks of
hospital discharge to independent sector
provision
Greater scrutiny and initial challenge of
proposed packages
Daily Liaison between social care and UHL
base wards to reduce length of
stay/minimise lost bed days
Maximise uptake of intensive crisis response
service including in accident and emergency
services
CHC group reviewing process and delivery
of CHC services to optimise care offers. An
action plan supports the work of this group.
Joint work to ensure the right balance of
health and social care input into cases.
Improved decision making in the adult social
care customer services centre
7 day working developments across the
system
Adult social care staff placed in the
emergency room to divert cases
Adult social care staff attending more ward
rounds and case conferences

Joint approach to commissioning services
across health and social care specifically in

77

•

•

•
•
•
•

the areas of domiciliary care and care
homes.
Develop appropriate tools to support the
brokerage function; Provider networking and
local package management; Managing the
provider framework - domiciliary care
services
All commissioning workers are to ensure that
the Brokers receive accurate, up to date
information to enable packages of care to
be placed with independent sector providers
and closed/reduced where appropriate
Greater flexibility/less prescription of home
care call times
Provider reviews that can reduce care safely
Supporting increased efficiency in provider
runs
Improved brokerage

The Integrated Urgent Care Action Plan has a performance dashboard which is
updated weekly tracking achievement of improvements against a range of metrics
including the impact on aspects associated with improving hospital discharge.
99. Medium term solutions to improve the urgent care system are being led by the
Better Care Together Urgent Care Workstream. These include:
a. UHL emergency floor redesign as part of capital solution
b. Single point of access developments
c. Maximising non-admitted ambulatory care pathways
d. Further improvements to continuing health care and discharge
pathways
e. Further improvements to Mental health crisis response for adults and
children
SECTION H: Resource Implications
100.

A Strategic Outline (investment) Case to support the five year plan in
process of submission to NHS England.

101.

The Leicestershire BCF pooled budget will continue to support medium
term solutions as well as short term actions, subject to evaluating impact
of interventions. The BCF is currently investing in the following in support
of the urgent care system:

78

a. An assessment service for frail older people at Loughborough Hospital
to avoid admissions to hospital
b. An integrated crisis response service which offers a 4 hour response
time and then provides 72 hours of support in a care crisis to avoid
hospital admissions
c. A new falls pathway with the ambulance service so that those who do
not need to be conveyed to hospital can be supported at home.
d. 7 day working in primary care across county CCGs (pilots in specific
localities in the county) so that those with complex care needs can
access ongoing GP support over the weekends.
e. Additional discharge support within UHL and LPT such extending the
work of primary care coordinators who support hospital discharge,
providing more bridging of care placements at home while ongoing
care packages are arranged, providing housing expertise.
f. Reviewing all care packages after 2 weeks to ensure care is stepped
down where applicable
102. Items a) to d) will be subject to formal independent evaluation to ascertain
their impact on admissions avoidance as part of the BCF programme, with
future funding decisions based on the results of this work.
103. In terms of expenditure from the BCF targeted specifically to improving
hospital discharge there is £1.2m allocated in 2014/15, increasing to £3.8m in
2015/6.
104. In addition to this, £6m has been set aside for reablement, an element of
which will be targeted to support to patients being discharged from hospital.
105. The vast majority of the BCF investment is linked to staff employed in
assessment and review of patients / service users. Other areas of
expenditure include funding the Assertive Inreach service in UHL and NHS
provided Step down services.
106. Investment in the medium term will be focussed on the following areas:
a. £250k for the expansion of the primary care coordinators service
(assertive inreach provided by LPT) –located at UHL
b. £230k to invest in a rostering system that will improve efficiency at the
Single Point of Access (SPA) service provided by LPT and possible
integration with social care

79

c. £90k has been identified to implement the Minimum Data Set (MDS), a
tool to support the safe transfer of patients across the health and social
care system.
107. In terms of core funding from adult social care, the Adults and Communities
department have a dedicated social work team based in UHL including 2 staff
based in the emergency department and staff dedicated to ward 2, along with
posts specifically working with patients with complex needs, undertaking
Decision Support Tool assessments to speed up the identification of
Continuing Health Care eligibility. Link workers are also allocated from each
community services locality to each of the community hospitals
108. Social care workers have implemented a more targeted approach to hospital
discharge including proactive reviews two weeks post discharge. Although
still early days, outcomes so far have been positive with a 54% reduction in
the cost of packages of care following review
109. To support activity and system flow during the winter period an additional
£12.9M has been allocated to LLR through national Winter pressures
funding. The funding is allocated to the elective pathway to support the 18
week position and for the non-elective pathway to support the winter demand
/ surge pressures
110. There are 50 schemes identified within the funding plan of which 42 are
aligned to non-elective care. The key areas the schemes are targeted at
include:
a) Minimising delayed discharges
b) Implementing 7 day working
c) Reducing A&E attendance and admissions
d) Provision of additional capacity within primary care
e) Implementations / improvement fo rapid assessment and treatment
f) Improve established pathways
g) Increased service capacity
Each of the schemes is being monitored and activity against plan reported
monthly to NHS England

80

SECTION I: Improving the home care market in the medium term
111. The County CCGs and the LA have joined together to re-commission home
care services in the medium term so that services are more responsive to the
local health and care system. This is called the Help to Live at Home project.
112. A new joint commissioning specification and market approach is being
developed focused on improving capacity within the market and achieving the
maximum possible outcomes for people in terms of reablement and
maintaining independence at home.
113. Financial modelling is being undertaken as the delivery model is developed.
Gross expenditure on home care by the County Council totals c£25m per
annum and the draft Medium Term Financial Strategy 2015/16 (MTFS)
includes a savings requirement of £250k in 2015/16, increasing to £1m in
2016/17.
114. It is anticipated that joint commissioning of home care with Clinical
Commissioning Groups would deliver wider savings. Data around CCG
expenditure and savings assumptions have yet to be built into the financial
model.
SECTION J: Risks
115. The Urgent Care Board has identified 5 key system level patient risks arising
from current performance of our urgent care system as follows:a. Lack of East Midlands Ambulance Service (EMAS) capacity resulting
from volume/handover issues leading to patients waiting ‘unsighted’ in
the community for a first response following initial telephone triage
b. Overcrowding in UHL’s Emergency Department/Clinical Decisions
Units leading to risk of high need patients being incorrectly prioritised
and/or not being assessed and treated in line with their relative priority
c. Handover delays for EMAS crews at Leicester Royal Infirmary leading
to risk of patients condition deteriorating while waiting
d. Short notice cancellation of elective procedures as a result of bed
availability resulting in patients (including cancer patients) deteriorating
while waiting for treatment
e. Overstretched nursing and medical ward staffing cover in UHL acute
and LPT community hospital beds leading to harm from delays in care,
treatment compliance and patient deconditioning
116. We have also referred earlier in this report (para 123) to the impact of
delayed discharges on the outcomes of patients in terms of their reablement.

81

117. The LA have identified the following potential financial risks in relation to the
position for adult social care:
a. Further changes to care pathways being progressed within Better Care
Together and the associated improvements in reduced LOS and
reductions in delayed discharges will see increased activity (and cost)
in social care. Impact and funding will be need to be modelled and
identified for the ‘left shift’ as part of the work on the Strategic Outline
Case, and within each workstream of BCT.
b. The future model for the delivery of home care could see an increase in
costs adding increased pressure to identify savings in other areas.
c. Directions and conditions from NHS England on how the Better Care
Fund should operate will influence investment decisions locally.
d. Additional financial pressures arising from the Care Act could impact
on the Council’s current focus on supporting hospital discharge.
118. In addition to the above risks, the health and care economy faces
considerable reputational risks particularly during this period of heightened
political and media scrutiny, so it is imperative these risks are managed by
strong joint leadership over the urgent care system and its action plan, both
in the short and medium term.
SECTION K: Recommendations
119. It is recommended that:
a. The Health and Wellbeing Board assess and discuss current
performance in relation to delayed discharges as outlined in this paper
b. The Health and Wellbeing Board consider this report in conjunction
with the related report from Local Healthwatch on patient experience of
discharge.
c. That the Board seek further assurance as needed from partner
agencies about the actions in progress to improve hospital discharge
and the impact these will have.
d. The Integration Executive and the Urgent Care Board are asked to
consider in particular how the LLR health and care system can achieve
a truly integrated approach to hospital discharge in the medium term.
e. The Board should direct any additional analysis or actions through the
Urgent Care Board which meets on a weekly basis.

82

f. Where further detailed work is needed on County specific matters in
support of the Urgent Care Board that the Integration Executive is
asked to discuss and prioritise any such actions arising from this report
at its meeting on 27th January, where this paper will also be received.
g. That where applicable the Integration Executive recommends any
adjustments needed within the Better Care Fund Plan in 2015/16 in
support of the urgent care system.

Impact Assessments
120. Included within the remit of the Health and Wellbeing Board is responsibility
for assessing the needs of local people including health inequalities, ensuring
local commissioning plans are grounded in evidence contained within the
joint strategic needs assessment (JSNA) and supporting delivery of a Health
and Wellbeing Strategy to improve outcomes for the local population.
Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessments will be required for
individual proposals coming before the board in the course of its duties.

Officers to Contact
Cheryl Davenport
Director of Health and Care Integration (Joint Appointment)
Cheryl.Davenport@leics.gov.uk
0116 3054212
07770 281610
Mick Connell
Director of Adults and Communities, Leicestershire County Council
Mick.Connell@leics.gov.uk
0116 3057454

83

APPENDIX 1
DEFINITIONS OF DELAYED TRANSFER OF CARE METRICS
AND OUR CURRENT PERFORMANCE
Adult and Social Care Outcome Framework (ASCOF) 2C part (i):
This measures the impact of hospital services (acute, mental health and non-acute)
and community-based care in facilitating timely and appropriate transfer from all
hospitals for all adults.
This indicates the ability of the whole system to ensure appropriate transfer from
hospital for the entire adult population. It is an important marker of the effective joint
working of local partners, and is a measure of the effectiveness of the interface
between health and social care services. Minimising delayed transfers of care and
enabling people to live independently at home is one of the desired outcomes of
social care.
Part (i) measures the overall number of delayed transfers of care. The calculation
for this metric is the average of all patient delays per 100,000 adult (18+) population.
As at the end of November 2014 the average number of patients delays accredited
to adult and social care, NHS and combined adult and social care and NHS per
100,000 population was 17.44. 17.44 which represents is 6.69 (or 62.2%) above the
level reported for November 2013 of 10.75 (see chart 1 below). A more detailed
breakdown of this metric is included in Appendix 2.
Chart 1

1

84

ASCOF 2C part (ii):
This measures the number of delays which are attributable to social care or jointly to
social care and the NHS. The calculation for this metric is the average of all adult
social care and combined adult social care and NHS patient delays per 100,000
adult population.
As at the end of November 2014 the average number of patients delayed accredited
to adult social care and combined adult social care and NHS per 100,000 population
was 4.22. 4.22 represents an uplift of 2.19 (or 107.9%) above the level reported for
November 2013 of 2.03 (see chart 2 below). A more detailed breakdown of this
metric is included in Appendix 2.

Chart 2

Better Care Fund (BCF) Outcome Metric 3:
This is a nationally defined metric measuring delivery of the outcome of effective joint
working of hospital services (acute, mental health and non-acute) and communitybased care in facilitating timely and appropriate transfer from all hospitals for all
adults. The aim is therefore to reduce the rate of delayed bed days per 100,000
population.
The calculation for this metric is the average of all delayed days per month per
100,000 adult population.
As at the end of November 2014 the average number of delayed days per month per
100,000 population was 403.17. 403.17 represents an uplift of 46.62 (or 13.1%)
above the 2014/15 Q3 target of 356.55 (see chart 3 below). A more detailed
breakdown of this metric is included in Appendix 2.
2

85

Chart 3

Benchmarking
Chart 4 below shows Leicestershire and Leicester City monthly performance for the
number of patients delays accredited to adult and social care, NHS and combined
adult and social care and NHS per 100,000 population.
This is shown against a peer group of local authorities (shown with the red line) for
the period April to November 2014 (see Appendix 3 for the local authorities included
in the peer group). As at November 2014, performance for Leicestershire was at
18.85 and for Leicester City was at 12.19. Leicestershire’s performance was 4.19
(or 28.6%) above the peer group benchmark of 14.66 and Leicester City’s
performance was 2.47 (or 16.8%) below the benchmark.

3

86

Chart 4
LEICESTERSHIRE

LEICESTER CITY

AVERAGE ALL

POPULATION USED: LEICESTERSHIRE - 530,420 LEICESTER CITY - 254,324
22.81

Number of ALL delays per 100,000 pop (Snapshot of patients)
20.93
19.23

16.97

18.85

17.91

17.34
15.73

15.27

13.01

16.12
14.55

12.19

12.19
11.01

9.04

Apr-14

May-14

Jun-14

Jul-14

Aug-14

Sep-14

Oct-14

Nov-14

Chart 5 below shows Leicestershire and Leicester City monthly performance for
number of patients delays accredited only to adult and social care per 100,000
population.
This is shown against a peer group of local authorities (shown with the red line) for
the period April to November 2014 (see Appendix 3 for the local authorities included
in the peer group).
As at November 2014, performance for Leicestershire was at 2.26 and for Leicester
City was at 1.57. Leicestershire’s performance was 0.84 (or 27.1%) below the peer
group benchmark of 3.10 and Leicester City’s performance was 1.53 (or 49.4%)
below the benchmark.

4

87

Chart 5

Number of ASC - Only Attributable delays per 100,000 pop (Snapshot of patients)
5.11

3.39

3.54
3.21
2.83

2.75

2.26

2.07
1.70

1.57

1.97

1.57

1.57
1.13

0.75

Apr-14

May-14

0.79

Jun-14

Jul-14

Aug-14

Sep-14

Oct-14

Nov-14

In addition to the three metrics detailed above, there is an additional metric used
within the NHS to measure delayed transfers of care. This is a measure of the total
number of patients delayed divided by the total number of occupied beds. As of 27
November 2014, against the national target of 3.5%, performance for Leicestershire
patients delayed at UHL was at 5.65%, for LPT (community hospitals) was at
17.69% and for all providers was at 7.33% (see Appendix 4).
Reported in the Local Government Chronicle dated 27 November 2014, an article on
page 8 titled, ‘Delayed transfer rate soars to highest level’ states:
“Analysis of official figures by LGC’s sister title Health Service Journal has revealed
a 7% rise in the number of days patient’s discharge from hospitals has been delayed
– from 1.4 million over the 12 months to September 2013 to 1.5 million over the
same period to September 2014”
The article continues to state:
“The rate of change has accelerated over the past 12 months after two years of
being broadly flat”
(How does this relate to our position – can we given a comparison to the national?)
5

88

Appendix 5 shows a snapshot of a chart taken from the article illustrating the
increase in delayed transfers of care (in millions of bed days) for the period
September 2011 to September 2014.

6

Appendix 2

89

7

90

8

91

Appendix 3
LEICESTERSHIRE

LEICESTER CITY

AVERAGE ALL

POPULATION USED: LEICESTERSHIRE - 530,420 LEICESTER CITY - 254,324
22.81

Number of ALL delays per 100,000 pop (Snapshot of patients)
20.93
19.23

18.85

17.91

17.34

16.97
15.73

16.12

15.27

13.01

14.55

12.19

12.19
11.01

9.04

Apr-14

May-14

Jun-14

Jul-14

Aug-14

Sep-14

Oct-14

Nov-14

Number of ASC - Only Attributable delays per 100,000 pop (Snapshot of patients)
5.11

3.39

3.54
3.21
2.83

2.75

2.26

2.07
1.70

1.57

1.97

1.57

1.57
1.13
0.79

0.75

Apr-14

Authority
Northamptonshire

May-14

Jun-14

Jul-14

Aug-14

Sep-14

Oct-14

Total number of ALL snapshot
delays per 100,000 pop
(Apr to Nov 2014)

Total number of ASC only
snapshot delays per 100,000 pop
(Apr to Nov 2014)

% of ALL snapshot delays that
are attributable to ASC only
(Apr to Nov 2014)
4.6%

233.09

10.78

Derby City

79.03

5.17

6.5%

Lincolnshire

86.86

9.08

10.5%

Milton Keynes

118.01

14.62

12.4%

Leicestershire

139.51

17.34

12.4%

68.02

8.91

13.1%

113.63

18.87

16.6%

22.57

3.93

17.4%

Nottinghamshire

86.49

18.15

21.0%

Worcestershire

132.33

29.09

22.0%

Warwickshire

134.16

32.97

24.6%

Cambridgeshire

149.19

39.24

26.3%

Nottingham City
Leicester City
Gloucestershire

Shropshire

90.53

24.54

27.1%

117.30

33.51

28.6%

Derbyshire

81.43

25.27

31.0%

North Yorkshire

66.88

22.09

33.0%

105.27

38.73

36.8%

Rutland

Staffordshire

Nov-14

9

92

Appendix 4

10

93

Appendix 5

11

Appendix 6

94

12

95

13

96

14

97

Agenda Item 11

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 22 JANUARY 2015
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH
LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND HEALTH
PROTECTION BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2013/14
Purpose of report
1. The purpose of this report is to inform the three Health and Wellbeing Boards for

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) that the Health Protection Board is
delivering its statutory functions and to provide them with the assurance regarding
the whole system for health protection across LLR.
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2. From April 2013 as a result of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 Leicester City

Council, Leicestershire and Rutland County Councils acquired new responsibilities
with regard to protecting the health of their population. Specifically, the local
authority is required, via its Director of Public Health (DPH), to assure itself that
relevant organisations have appropriate plans in place to protect the health of the
population and that all necessary action is being taken.
Background
3. In order to discharge the health protection assurance responsibilities, a Health

Protection Board was established as a sub-group of the three Health and
Wellbeing Boards for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR). The LLR Health
Protection Board is the way the Health and Wellbeing Boards are assured that the
health protection agenda is being adequately addressed and considered in
sufficient detail. The LLR Health Protection Board was established and held its
inaugural meeting in June 2013 and now meets on a quarterly basis. This is the
first annual report from this board.
Conclusions/Recommendations
4. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to receive the Health Protection

Board Annual Report 2013/14 and provide feedback on content and progress
made to date.
Officer to Contact
Name: Mike Sandys, Director of Public Health
Telephone: 0116 305 4239
Email:
Mike.Sandys@leics.gov.uk
1

98

List of Appendices
Appendix 1- Leicester Leicestershire and Rutland Health Protection Board, Terms of
Reference
Appendix 2-Reporting Template for the Health Protection Board for Leicester City,
Leicestershire County and Rutland.
Appendix 3- Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland Local Health Resilience Partnership
Appendix 4- Assurance about arrangements for health protection in Leicester City,
Leicestershire and Rutland.
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
5. The LLR Health Protection Board considers health protection assurance across

different population and community groups characterised in the 2010 Equality Act
(for example gender, ethnicity, disability etc).
Environmental Implications
6. The LLR Health Protection Board considers some environmental implications on

health and health protection assurance (for example air pollution etc.)
Partnership Working and associated issues
7. The key role of the LLR health protection board is the gain assurance from key

partners (including Public Health England, NHS England, local Clinical
Commissioning Groups, Regulatory Services, Local Resilience Forum etc) on
health protection across the system.
Risk Assessment
8. The LLR Health Protection Board is assured that relevant organisations have

appropriate plans in place to protect the health of the population, hence reducing
health protection risks to the LLR population.

2

99

Leicester Leicestershire and Rutland Health Protection Board
Annual Report 2013-14
Introduction
From April 2013 as a result of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 Leicester City Council,
Leicestershire and Rutland County Councils acquired new responsibilities with regard to
protecting the health of their population. Specifically the local authority is required, via its
Director of Public Health (DPH), to assure itself that relevant organisations have appropriate
plans in place to protect the health of the population and that all necessary action is being
taken. In order to discharge these responsibilities, a Health Protection Board was
established as a sub-group of the three Health and Wellbeing Boards for Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland. The Health Protection Board is the way the Health and
Wellbeing Boards are assured that the health protection agenda is being adequately
addressed and considered in sufficient detail.
This is the 2013/14 annual report for the Health Protection Board. Its primary purpose is to
inform the three Health and Wellbeing Boards for LLR that the Board is delivering its
statutory functions and to provide them with the assurance regarding the whole system for
health protection across LLR.

LLR Health Protection Board
The LLR Health Protection Board was established and held its inaugural meeting in June
2013. During 2013-14 it met on a further three occasions; September 2013, December 2013
and March 2014. The terms of reference are attached in Appendix 1.
The aim of the board is to provide assurance to the local authorities in LLR about the
adequacy of prevention, surveillance, planning and response with regard to health protection
issues. Issues that are within the scope of the board are, but are not restricted to:
•

infectious disease in the community

•

healthcare acquired infections including hospital acquired infections

•

environmental hazards

•

immunisation programmes

•

sexually transmitted infections including HIV

•

blood borne viruses

•

national screening programmes

•

tuberculosis

•

seasonal influenza

Issues that are specifically out of scope of the board include:
3

100

•

health services emergency planning arrangements and response including
chemical biological radiological nuclear (CBRN) and pandemic flu (which falls
under the remit of the Local Health Resilience Partnership of which the DPH for
Leicestershire County and Rutland is co-chair)

•

business continuity

•

predictable ‘business as usual’ events such as NHS/social care winter planning

Membership of the group comprises:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Directors of public health from each of the upper tier authorities in LLR
Public Health England
District and unitary council environmental health departments
Immunisation leads for the area covered
CCG quality leads responsible for HCAI commissioning
NHS commissioning leads for each of the national screening programmes
Chair of the TB board
Sexual health commissioner/chair of sexual health programme board
NHS England Area Team for Leicestershire and Lincolnshire

The Board meets quarterly and is chaired by one of the DPHs by agreement between them.
Reporting mechanisms were developed iteratively throughout the year. The main
mechanism for assurance is completion of a reporting template for each meeting (Appendix
2) for each of the key organisations represented. These are:
•

Public Health England represented by the Consultant in Communicable
Disease Control (CCDC). Topics reported on include incidents, outbreaks and
emerging issues.

•

District and unitary council environmental health departments (represented by
1 officer for Leicestershire, 1 for Rutland and 1 for Leicester City). Topics
include food safety and air quality.

•

Local Authority Public Health teams (usually represented by the Consultant
lead for Health Protection). Topics reported on include Community Infection
Control services, TB, Sexual Health commissioning, and clinical governance.

•

CCG quality leads responsible for HCAI commissioning – usually represented
by lead nurse for each CCG. Main topic reported on is infection control.

•

NHS England Area Team for Leicestershire and Lincolnshire, represented by
Consultant lead for screening and immunisation. Topics include immunisation
and screening programmes.

4

101

Key risks, emerging issues and mitigations identified for 2014/15.
Public Health England
In March 2013 the Consultant in Health Protection (CHP) gave a verbal update on a national
measles outbreak. An outbreak investigation team has been convened and had met twice.
All appropriate actions and communications are reported to be in hand.
The key emerging issue identified by PHE was multidrug resistant organisms. It was felt that
more work is needed on this across the whole system and the CHP planned to work with
relevant partners to develop an action plan to progress this locally.
By October 2013 PHE reported that the southern hemisphere was fairly quiet for seasonal
‘flu this year which gives an indication of what we might expect for our own ‘flu season. In
light of this there were no plans to change the current seasonal ‘flu vaccine campaign. It was
also reported that the coronavirus is more prevalent after Hajj – i.e. from 18 October and
beginning of December. This could have affected travellers to/from Saudi Arabia and PHE
coordinated communications to raise awareness of this.
In March 2014 PHE reported increase in Scarlet Fever notifications.
communicated with GPs, schools and nurseries plus other stakeholders.

PHE has

Environmental Health and Regulatory Services
The key areas of interest were reported by Local Authority EHO and regulatory services
representatives to the Board. These were eventually focussed on food safety and air quality.
With nine local authority services across LLR (seven districts, Rutland County Council and
Leicester City Council) it proved to be a challenge to ensure all services could feed into the
meeting, particularly for Rutland who contract their environmental health services to
Peterborough City Council. Representation for all services has now been agreed and work
will continue to ensure all areas are able to provide assurance for the localities.
Clinical Commissioning Groups
The Chief Nurses for the three CCGs meet quarterly with other key stakeholders across
health and social care with a remit for infection prevention and control at the LLR Infection
Prevention Control Strategy Group. These meetings coordinate and agree the CCG
submission to the Health Protection Board. Work to reduce Clostridium difficile infection
(CDI) continued to be a priority throughout the year. In April the CCGs organised an LLR
Health and social care economy wide planning day to develop an action plan for this work
and have now established an operational group to deliver the work. Assurance was also
provided to the Health Protection Board relating to the outbreak of Ebola virus and University
Hospitals of Leicester (UHL) preparedness.

5

102

LA Public Health
Community Infection Prevention and Control
Historically an infection control service for Leicestershire County care homes was funded by
Leicestershire County and Rutland Primary Care Trust and provided by Leicestershire
Partnership Trust. The funding for this service was transferred from health to the local
authority during 2013/14 and with the transfer of responsibility for infection prevention and
control LLR local authorities have now commissioned a service from LPT to extend the
service to cover all local authority provided or commissioned health and social care services
across LLR.
This was eventually agreed by December 2013 and a senior clinical nurse specialist was
appointed at the end of the March 2014. The service is both proactive and reactive.
Proactively it seeks assurance and supports community infections services, skills, systems
and knowledge. It also offers reactive support for both PHE and CCGs for community
outbreaks, where additional capacity is needed. A performance management system was
set up for the service with a steering group comprising LA Public Health, PHE and Adult
Social Care officers. They initially meet monthly with LPT to develop the service, with the
intension to revert to quarterly meeting once the service was established.
Sexual Health Services
A new Integrated Sexual Health Service (ISHS) was commissioned and launched in January
2014. Initial communications were undertaken and the providers appointed a sexual health
communication lead to develop & lead delivery of promotion plan, including public
consultation on branding of the service. The contract is managed by a Contracts
Management Board with officers from the three responsible local authorities, which initially
met monthly and is moving to quarterly meetings. In addition a Sexual Health Partnership
Board has been established to oversee the monitoring and management of the ISHS and
ensure consistency of delivery across LLR.
TB Board
Contrary to the UK as a whole and most PHE regions, including the East Midlands, TB case
report rates in LLR continued their gradually fall in 2012 which continues a trend observed
since 2005.

6

103

In Leicester City the TB incidence rate has fallen from 77/100,000 to 56/100,000 during this
time period. The TB incidence rates in the county from 2005 -2012 have remained at a very
low level (5/100000).
The vast majority of active TB cases develop the disease after previously acquired latent TB
infection. The burden of TB in LLR is, to a large extent, driven by the unidentified latent
infection in the migrant populations now living in the area. It is with this in mind that the TB
Board is actively examining the feasibility of developing with commissioners a new entrant
screening programme for adults (16-35 years old) migrating from high incidence countries as
a means of curtailing the spread of the infection through this route. An equivalent children’s
screening service already exists for this.
NHS England
During 2013/14, Leicestershire was part of an NHS England pilot, to offer the nasal flu
vaccine Fluenz® to primary school pupils. The pilot covered Leicester City and East
Leicestershire and Rutland CCGs. The local pilot across 228 different schools saw
approximately 28,600 children (52%) vaccinated against flu between September 2013 and
early January 2014. In 2014/15, this pilot is to be extended to include children attending
schools in the geography of West Leicestershire CCGs, and for all areas involved in the pilot
and to increase the age cohort to include children in school years seven and eight.
Nationally in September 2013, an oral vaccine for rotavirus was introduced into the
childhood immunisation programme for babies aged two and three months. This has
already shown a dramatic decline in the numbers of rotavirus cases identified by labs in
2013/14 compared to previous years (2002-2013).

7

104

In September 2013, a national routine vaccine programme for shingles was introduced
targeting people age 70 years and a catch-up programme for people aged 79 years. A
snapshot of our local vaccination uptake for last year suggests (based on the sentinel
practices) 70 year olds (58%) and 79 year olds (59%) across both of Leicestershire’s CCGs
are more likely to have been vaccinated compared to the England averages (47% and 46%
respectively).
Breast cancer is the most common cancer in the UK. Breast screening offers a test to check
the breast for abnormal growths in women aged 50 to 70 every three years. In
Leicestershire (83.4%), a higher proportion of eligible women have had a breast screen
within a three year cycle compared to the East Midlands (80.4%) and England (76.3%). In
Leicestershire, there is a local campaign to increase attendance at breast screening for
women with learning disabilities. A DVD tailored to women with learning disabilities and their
carers is to be launched on 10th June 2014 to explain the purpose and processes behind
breast screening.
In Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (82%), a higher proportion of eligible women have
had a cervical screen within five years compared to the East Midlands (80.4%) and England
(78.3%).
Bowel cancer is the third most common cancer in the UK, with one in 20 people developing it
at some point in their life. Bowel cancer is also the second biggest cause of cancer deaths,
but regular screens can reduce the risk of death by 16 per cent1. Up-take for bowel cancer
screening for West Leicestershire and East Leicestershire and Rutland CCGs combined is
58%, compared to a national target of 60%. Bowel cancer is more common in deprived
communities. Whilst overall, bowel screening up-take is low’ it is lower still in our most
deprived communities where the risk of developing the cancer is greatest.
Whole System Risks and mitigations
A system wide area of concern for the Board was the lack of clarity with regard to how to
respond across LLR to significant outbreaks or incidents. The LLR Local Health Resilience
Partnership took the lead in developing these arrangements and reporting this back to DH
on a standard template agreed by all partners (Appendix 3). Although some areas are still
unclear, for example responsibility for funding certain element as of a response, the Board
took a pragmatic approach that could be developed in the light of further experience. This
was tested with the response to the measles outbreak across the UK during spring 2013,
where there was initial lack of agreement on who should lead the communications. This
could potentially have fallen to either PHE with responsibility for outbreak investigations and
control, NHSE with responsibility for ‘flu vaccinations, or any of the local authorities’ DPHs
with an overall health leadership role. A pragmatic approach was taken and it was agreed by
all parties that PHE would take the lead on this and that all communications teams would

1

[2] Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 2006. Screening for colorectal cancer using the faecal occult blood
test: an update

8

105

keep each other informed as to any activity or communication plans in place, and all would
ensure consistency of messages with PHE.
Assurance Audit
Tony Baxter, DPH Doncaster, has developed an audit of 10 questions to facilitate the
scrutiny of health protection functions based on the Centre for Public Scrutiny approach. As
part of the assurance process undertaken by the Health protection Board for the three
Health and Wellbeing Boards, the DPHs for LLR have completed this (Appendix 4). The
results from this audit confirmed assurance for health protection across LLR.

9

106

Appendix 1
Leicester Leicestershire and Rutland Health Protection Board
Terms of Reference
1

Aim

The aim of the board is to provide assurance to the local authorities in LLR about the
adequacy of prevention, surveillance, planning and response with regard to health protection
issues.
2

Scope

Issues that are within the scope of the board are, but are not restricted to:
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

infectious disease in the community
healthcare acquired infections including hospital acquired infections
environmental hazards
immunisation programmes
sexually transmitted infections including HIV
blood borne viruses
national screening programmes
tuberculosis
seasonal influenza

Issues that are specifically out of scope of the board include:
1
2
3
3

health services emergency planning arrangements and response including CBRN
and pandemic ‘flu
business continuity
predictable ‘business as usual’ events such as NHS/social care winter planning
Methods of working

The board will seek assurance in the following ways:
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8

It will develop a health protection dashboard pulling together data from a variety of
sources including PHE, NHS trusts, NHS Commissioning Board and environmental
health teams in order to assess performance.
It will review areas of poor performance and expect recovery plans to be in place.
It will identify the need for and review the content of plans relevant to the health
protection agenda.
It will support coordination of work concerning health protection issues and escalate
where gaps in partnership working are identified.
It will ensure that learning from incidents has been established to inform future
working practices.
It will ensure that evidence based practice is being followed in all areas of health
protection practice.
It will raise any concerns with the relevant commissioners and/or providers.
If necessary it will escalate concerns to the Health and Wellbeing Board and/or to the
chief executive of the relevant organisation as appropriate.
10

107

9

4

Any discussion of individual cases or incidents and the respective minutes of these
will not disclose:
• Confidential information which relates to and identifies an individual unless
the
information is disclosed in a form ensuring that individuals' identities cannot
be
ascertained, or an individual consents to disclosure;
• Any information, the disclosure of which is prohibited by or under any
enactment;
• Any information, the disclosure of which would breach commercial
confidentiality.
Accountability

The HP Board will cover the areas of Leicestershire County, Rutland County and Leicester
City Councils. It will act as a sub-group of each of the three health and wellbeing boards. It
will produce an annual report on health protection issues for each of the three HWBs and will
report other issues by exception.
5

Membership
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Directors of public health from each of the upper tier authorities in LLR
Public Health England
District and unitary council environmental health departments
Immunisation leads for the area covered
CCG quality leads responsible for HCAI commissioning
NHS commissioning leads for each of the national screening programmes
Chair of the TB board
Sexual health commissioner/chair of sexual health programme board
NHS England Area Team for Leicestershire and Lincolnshire

The Board will meet quarterly and will be chaired by one of the DPHs by agreement between
them.
Secretarial support and production of the dashboard will be undertaken by one of the local
authority public health teams (by agreement between the DPHs). Additional members may
be invited where necessary by full Board agreement. Members will endeavour to send a
deputy if they are unable to attend.

11

108

Appendix 2

Reporting Template for the Health Protection Board for Leicester
City, Leicestershire County and Rutland.

LLR
Authorities
Health

Local Risks/Issues
Public

Mitigation

CIPC

Sexual Health

TB

Clinical Governance

12

109

Appendix 3
LEICESTER, LEICESTERHSIRE & RUTLAND LOCAL HEALTH RESILIENCE
PARTNERSHIP
DPH
–
Mike
Sandys
REVIEW
OF
LOCAL
HEALTH Lead
PROTECTION ARRANGEMENTS FOR NHS England Area Team – Trish Thompson
RESPONDING TO INCIDENTS AND
OUTBREAKSName of Co-Chairs of the
Local Health Resilience Partnership
Upper Tier Local Authority

Leicester City Council
Leicestershire County Council
Rutland County Council

Local Health Resilience Forum

Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland

NHS England Area Team

Leicestershire & Lincolnshire

Public Health England Centre

East Midlands

Local Government Association Region

Midlands

1.
Please confirm with reference and explanatory notes as required, the local
agreements for responding to health protection incidents and outbreaks
Issue

Local Agreement (Yes/No with reference, and explanatory notes
if required)
In the event of an Outbreak Control Team being established, this will
normally be chaired by a Consultant in Communicable Disease
Control, Consultant in Health Protection or a Health Protection
Specialist. Local Authority Directors of Public or nominated lead may
chair the group where there are wider implications for local public
health or a major contribution from the Local Authority is required.
Please refer to the Communicable Disease Outbreak Management
Plan for PHE Centre East Midlands. Also covered in PHE Centre
Incident Response Plan.
The triggers for establishing an Outbreak Control Team are
documented in the Communicable Disease Outbreak Management
Plan for PHE Centre East Midlands
Public Health England will normally undertake a lead role for
communications when responding to communicable disease incidents
or outbreaks as documented in the above mentioned plan.

1.1

Appointment
of
Incident Director

1.2

Creation of incident
team

1.3

Communication
the public

1.4

Setting
up
and
running a phone
helpline and social
media service

A communications strategy will be looked at by the Outbreak Control
Team, led by Public Health England Communications lead.

1.5

Communication to
health and local
government staff

Communications Strategy will be led by PHE and agreed, under the
Agenda, at the Outbreak Control Team as stated in 1.4

to

13

110

Issue
1.6

Organising
and
funding of sample
testing
(including
any transport)

1.7

Organising
and
funding of resulting
treatment

1.8

Inclusion
of
outbreak response
(as
well
as
emergency
response)
in
contracts
with
providers:
a) NHS
England AT
contracts
b) CCG
contracts
c) LA
contracts

of

Local Agreement (Yes/No with reference, and explanatory notes
if required)
No local agreement has been reached regarding funding for sample
testing. Enclosure 2 in the LHRP Health Protection Pack states that:
In practice the funding at local level of clinical interventions whether
investigative or curative, is a responsibility of the NHS. NHS England
and CCG finance officers will agree an appropriate methodology for
sharing costs on a case by case basis from within budget allocations,
to support the locally agreed clinical responses. The sharing of more
significant costs will be agreed as appropriate, with NHS England
Regional and National Finance Directors.
The Communicable Disease Outbreak Management Plan for PHE
Centre East Midlands, identifies that NHS England will lead the
mobilisation of NHS funded services. No local agreement exists
regarding funding of these incidents, but funding stream would be in
line with current commissioning arrangements
Contractual responsibility clear, supplanted by ways of working
agreement between PHE, commissioners and providers Service
Condition 30 in the NHS Standard Contract refers to Emergency
Preparedness and Resilience including Major Incidents. Specifically
SC30.9 states: If there is a Significant Incident or Emergency:
30.9.1 the Parties must comply with their respective Incident
Response Plans; and
30.9.2 each Party must provide the others with whatever further
assistance they may reasonably require to respond to that Significant
Incident or Emergency; and
30.9.3 the Provider must comply with its Business Continuity Plan
SC 30.12 states: The Provider must at the request of the Coordinating Commissioner provide whatever support and assistance
may reasonably be required by the Commissioners and/or NHS
England and/or Public Health England in response to any national,
regional or local public health emergency or incident. Disaster
Recovery and Business Continuity planning is included in the contract
for the provision of Public Health Services; however specific outbreak
response is not included.

1.9

Production
incident report

2.

Specific handling issues
Issue

2.1

A
Tuberculosis
outbreak

2.2

A
blood
borne
virus outbreak

2.3

An infected health
care worker look

Highlighted in the Communicable Disease Outbreak Management
Plan for PHE Centre East Midlands, the Chair of the Outbreak Control
Team will ensure all relevant information pertaining to the incident is
collated.

Local Agreement (Yes/No with reference, and explanatory notes
if required)
The Tuberculosis Service is not contracted to manage an outbreak –
refer to the Communicable Disease Outbreak Management Plan. TB
outbreak is included in the Dynamic Risk Assessment Appendix K of
the Communicable Disease Outbreak Management Plan
No specific local agreement in place - refer to the Communicable
Disease Outbreak Management Plan
No specific local agreement in place. A serious untoward incident
would be raised within the organization responsible and normal
procedures would be instigated.

14

111

Issue

2.4

2.5

2.6

back exercise
An incident related
to
national
immunisation
programmes
An environmental
hazard

Local Agreement (Yes/No with reference, and explanatory notes
if required)
An incident related to the national immunisation programme, such as
failure of cold chain or faulty batch of vaccine, would be led by the
Screening and Immunisation Lead drawing on other expertise and
resources as necessary.
District Councils and the Environment Agency both have
responsibilities for dealing with environmental hazards. Should
specific public health advice or guidance be required Public Health
England and the Director of Public Health both have responsibilities,
and would offer a coordinated response as highlighted in the
Communicable Disease Outbreak Management Plan.
These cases would be managed by the relevant organisation with
appropriate escalation as required.

A
healthcare
associated
infection
A school related
outbreak

School nursing service is commissioned by Local Authorities and
delivered by LPT. Please refer to point 1.8

2.8

A
care
home
related outbreak

These cases would be managed by the provider with the support of
the GP, community health services and LA contracts management.

2.9

A terrorist attack
involving
nerve
agent; response to
include access to
ambulance service
deployed
Nerve
Agent Antidote Pod
and
further
treatment
using
Obidoxime

Nerve agent attack would be identified by NHS services and / or
Police, either directly or via Police CBRN centre. Access to nerve
agent pod via EMAS

2.10

Additional issue of
Potassium Iodate
Tablets

2.7

Name of person completing the proforma

Andy Kelly

Appointment

Head of EPRR

Organisation

NHS England (Leicestershire & Lincolnshire)

Contact Details (e-mail and telephone
number)

andrew.kelly3@nhs.net 0116 295 0827

Date

Approved at LHRP 26th March 2014

15

112

Appendix 4
Assurance about arrangements for health protection2 in Leicester City,
Leicestershire and Rutland.
Question

LLR

1. Does the local authority The DPHs and their teams can articulate commissioner
have a clear understanding responsibilities and local pathways for:
of
the pathways
and
providers involved in the
delivery
of
health
• Emergency preparedness and incident response:
protection?
= LHRP & LRF (LLR Prepared)
• Communicable
disease
management:
Possible
supplementary
= PHE for outbreak management (see recently
updated plan)
question:
• Management of other health protection Incidents (e.g.
Environmental hazards, Meningococcal disease,
Vaccination preventable diseases, Seasonal flu,
Opportunity to ask further
Chemical,
radiation
and
terrorist
incidents)
= PHE
questions
about
specific
aspects of health protection e.g. • Community Infection prevention and control in health
and social care, including healthcare acquired
immunisation/screening
infections, communicable disease and infection
/sexual health etc.
prevention and control standards in community
settings
= Currently contract with LPT, to be moving to an inhouse service 2015/16
• Screening
= Commissioned & coordinated by NHS Area Team;
Various providers
• Immunisation
o Routine
programmes:
Childhood
immunisations,
seasonal
flu,
PPV
(Pneumococcal Polysaccharide Vaccine),
school based e.g. HPV (human papilloma virus
to
prevent
cervical
cancer)
and
diphtheria/tetanus/polio
o Targeted programmes: BCG, RSV, neonatal
hepatitis B
= Commissioned & coordinated by NHS Area Team;
Various Providers
•

TB
= Treatment is commissioned by CCGs incl. public
health response

2

Based around work completed by Dr Tony Baxter for a scrutiny panel of Doncaster Metropolitan
Borough Council

16

113

•

•
•

•

Contraception
and
Sexual
Health
= LLR Integrated Sexual Health service commissioned
by council; provided by Staffordshire and Stoke on
Trent Partnership NHS Trust. Pharmacy and GP LES
for IUCD, Implanon and Chlamydia screening, and
number of VCS contract for advice and support
Surveillance,
Alerting
and
Tracking
= PHE
Information
and
Advice
= Strategic advice is provided by PHE; operational
advice also from PHE duty desk and from LLR PH
CIPC Service. Provision of information to the general
public is responsibility of the DPH though we would
normally expect PHE to take the lead in Comms in
line with LLR LHRP review of health protection
arrangements for responding to incidents and
outbreaks
Training
= Provider responsibility

2. What
are
the
local Following the transfer of Public Health to Local
governance structures and Government under the Health and Social Care Act 2012,
responsibilities for Health local authorities have a new health protection
Protection in the area?
responsibility for “providing information and advice to
relevant organisations (including PHE) so as to ensure all
Possible
supplementary parties discharge their roles effectively for the protection
of the local population”. According to the new
questions:
Regulations, the Director of Public Health (DPH) has
responsibility for strategic leadership of health protection
in a unitary/upper tier authority3. As such, the DPH,
Given the significant changes to
should be absolutely assured that the arrangements to
the local health system, are
protect the health of their local communities are robust
partners and providers aware of
and are implemented appropriately.
the new structures, sources of
expertise and key contacts?
Has a local health protection
committee been established
and, if so, what is the
membership?
What
are
arrangements
protection?

Across LLR the DPHs for Leicestershire and Leicester
City provide overall assurance of the health protection
system including Health Emergency Planning, Resilience
and Response. The DPHs oversees outcomes and
arrangements relating to Health Protection through the
the
reporting
LLR Health Protection Board for which currently the DPH
for
health
for Leicestershire is currently the Chair. This group
secures assurance on behalf of the three Health &

3

This is in addition to pre-existing health protection functions and statutory powers delegated to local
authorities under the 1984 Public Health (Control of Disease) Act, the 2008 Health and Social Care
Act, the 1974 Health and Safety at Work Act and the 1990 Food Safety Act. It is also in addition to
the local authority’s statutory role as a Category 1 Responder under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004.

17

114

Is there a development/forward Wellbeing Boards for LLR.
plan for health protection
Alongside this, arrangements for health emergency
locally?
planning are overseen by the LHRP.
Other key partners as follows:
Agency
Public
Health
England

Role
Communicable disease control
and monitoring, expert advice
on environmental, chemical,
biological
and
radiation
hazards, HCAI monitoring

Lead Officer
Dr Philip Monk

Responsibilities include:
A duty to take such steps as
the SoS considers appropriate
to protect the health of the
public in England
Powers in relation to Port
Health
Category 1 Responders under
the Civil Contingencies Act
2004
Power
to
provide
a
Microbiological
Service
in
England
PHE also has a team
embedded within the NHSE
local area team which is
responsible for commissioning
vaccination and immunisation
programmes for LLR
NHS
England
Local Area
Team

Commissioning
routine
vaccination, immunisation and
screening
programmes,
commissioning primary care,
responsibility for some closed
communities, e.g. prisons

Dr Tim Davies

Health
protection
related
responsibilities as set out in the
Health and Social Care Act
(2012)
and
subsequent
regulations include:
Commissioning Primary Care
in England
Clinical
Governance
and
Leadership
Commissioning
specialist
services
Emergency planning
Commissioning services such
as Health Visiting
Patient Safety and Service
Quality
CCGs

Broadly
speaking:
commissioning secondary care
and community services (incl.
PH aspects of TB control) and

18

Caroline
Trevithick, Carmel
O’Brien and Dawn
Lees acts as point

115

HCAI monitoring

of contact into the
three CCGs

A CCG has statutory duties to:
1. obtain advice appropriate to
enable
it
to
effectively
discharge its functions, from
persons who, when taken
together, have a broad range
of professional expertise in:
a. Prevention, diagnosis or
treatment of illness
b.
The
protection
or
improvement of public health
2. make available to LAs CCG
services or facilities so far as is
reasonably
necessary
to
enable LAs to discharge their
functions relating to social
services, education and public
health
3. co-operate with LAs
4. Category 2 Responders duty
under Civil Contingencies Act
2004
5. co-operate with category 1
responders to assess risk and
prepare plans
Primary
Care
Providers
Secondary
Care
Providers

Reporting notifiable diseases,
administering vaccination and
screening programmes
Treatment
services,
responding to emergencies,
communicable
disease
notification and control

GPs

UHL,
sundry
‘private providers’

Partners will be aware of the source of strategic advice
and leadership on outbreak management which continues
to be provided by health protection colleagues who
formerly worked in HPA.
In regard to commissioning, key partners and providers
are aware of the new structures with which they need to
engage.

3. Are clear, up to date
SLA’s/MOU’s
in
place
between the local authority
and all partner agencies
involved in the local health
protection system?
Possible
question:

supplementary

Arrangements with all providers directly commissioned by
the LA are documented in contracts. These are reviewed
as part of the routine commissioning cycle.
Arrangements with other partners:
NHSE commissioned screening and immunisation
programmes work to a national specification.
The LHRP have a MoU describing partner roles.
19

116

What process is in place for PHE own an outbreak plan which sets out roles in the
reviewing these agreements?
event of an outbreak.
4. How well do the councils Risks to the population are documented in the community
understand the potential risk register by the LRF, in which the Council is a key
and existing risks to health partner. LRF partners all have visibility of this.
in the borough, and how do
we ensure that partners also
know and understand?
Possible
questions:

supplementary The DPH is advised by PHE about longstanding and
emerging health protection related risks. Papers on these
risks are brought to the HWB and Scrutiny committees
from time to time, and an Annual Report from the LLR
Can data flow to the right Health Protection Board is taken to each H&WB.
people in the new system in a
timely manner?
Nevertheless, further work is needed to ensure that:
Can the system respond to
changing
health
risks a) Members and officers have a sound grasp of the risks,
appropriately?
their scale and of the evidence for effective action
b) the Councils’ targeting of financial savings is achieved
in a way which reasonably reflects the risks
associated with that service/hazard, and the relative
value of public health measures to mitigate them.
5. What system is in place to See 2 above.
provide assurance to the
DPH, on behalf of the local
authority, that arrangements
to protect the health of
residents are robust and
being
implemented
appropriately?
Possible
question:

supplementary

Has an annual review process
for the local health protection
system been agreed?

6. Is the Council assured that Yes. Public health have engaged closely with PHE on an
the system can respond updated outbreak management plan.
Some work
appropriately in the event of
20

117

an outbreak/incident?

7. What
accountability
structures would be used by
the DPH to escalate health
protection
concerns
as
necessary, and can current
arrangements ensure a
timely response?

remains, especially in regard to ensuring that additional
resources which may be needed can be mobilised
quickly.

In practice the resolution of any concern is likely to be
addressed through the DPHs’ personal influences and
longstanding good relationships amongst partners in the
area.
In the event that a health protection concern is not
addressed, options for escalation are:
-

To the Chief Exec of the Council
To NHSE (via LHRP/NHSE)
To PHE (via Centre Director)
To the H&WBs and Councillors
responsibility for public health

with

portfolio

8. What arrangements are in See 5 & 6 above. The outbreak plan covers the region.
place to manage cross- PHE’s remit is regional.
border
incidents
and
outbreaks?
9. How are we developing new
joint working arrangements
between public health/the
wider
health
protection
system and environmental
health within the Council?

The DPH for Leicestershire and Rutland is co-chair of the
LHRP.
The DPHs or deputies engage with structures for
managing national screening and immunisation
programmes in across LLR.
Senior environmental health officers sit on the HP Board.
Public health has engaged with the LLR Environmental
Health & Regulatory Managers groups.

10. What formal agreements Formal arrangements or discharged via the HP Board
are in place between PHE
and
the
Council
to
determine the specialist
health protection support,
advice and services PHE
will provide to the Council?

21

118

This page is intentionally left blank

119

Agenda Item 12

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 22 JANUARY 2015
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF HEALTH AND CARE INTEGRATION
REVISED TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR THE INTEGRATION EXECUTIVE

Purpose of the Report
1. The purpose of this report is to present the revised terms of reference for the
Integration Executive for approval.
Background
2. The Integration Programme incorporates the Better Care Fund plan/priorities
and a number of other integration priorities across the partnership, building on
good foundations of joint working established over a number of years between
the council and NHS partners. This has included existing pooled budgets in
areas such as learning disability services.
3. The Integration Executive is supported by an operational group comprised of
representatives from across the partner agencies which has focused on
digesting policy, BCF planning, submission and assurance, integration
programme performance reporting, metrics and KPIs, the development of the
section 75 agreement, integration programme risk management and
programme management.
4. The operational group has also developed the infrastructure and governance
for individual projects feeding into the integration programme, managed
programme level resources and ensured close working with other programme
management teams within the health and care economy such as the Better
Care Together Programme Office and those within clinical commissioning
groups.
Terms of Reference
5. The Terms of Reference for the Integration Executive were approved by the
Health and Wellbeing Board on 13 March 2014.
6. Leicestershire County Council’s Internal Audit Service has undertaken an
Internal Audit of the Better Care Fund. This audit found that the Terms of
Reference for the Integration Executive did not include reference to what is to
be reported to the Health and Wellbeing Board, in what format and with what
frequency.
7. The Internal Audit recommended that the Terms of Reference for the
Integration Executive should be expanded to outline the reporting

120

arrangements back up to the Health and Wellbeing Board and other
governance streams of relevance. The Terms of Reference have therefore
been revised accordingly and are attached as Appendix A to this report.
Recommendation
That the Terms of Reference for the Integration Executive be approved
Officers to contact:
Cheryl Davenport
Director of Health and Care Integration (Joint Appointment)
cheryl.davenport@leics.gov.uk
0116 305 4212
Rosemary Palmer
Principal Committee Officer
rosemary.palmer@leics.gov.uk
0116 305 6098

121

APPENDIX
TERMS OF REFERENCE
FOR THE LEICESTERSHIRE INTEGRATION EXECUTIVE
Purpose of the Integration Executive
The purpose of the Integration Executive is to provide leadership, direction
and assurance, on behalf of the Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board,
so that our vision for integrated health and care in Leicestershire is delivered,
in line with national policy and local priorities.
Terms of Reference
The Integration Executive will have a role and duties which will include:1) Agree the scope of the programme of work to integrate health and care
in Leicestershire by 2018, setting the scale of ambition and pace
needed for delivery.
2) Develop the Better Care Fund Plan for Leicestershire (2014/15 –
2015/16) as a sub set of the Integration programme for approval by the
Health and Wellbeing Board and lead its delivery.
3) Develop a programme plan to ensure delivery of all components of the
work to agreed milestones.
4) Quality assure business cases for individual developments including
the strategic assumptions, models of care, evidence base, financial
analysis and equality impact assessment.
5) Make recommendations as appropriate to the Health and Wellbeing
Board on the allocation of the resources necessary to deliver the
integration programme as a whole and its individual components.
6) Develop a risk register for the integration programme.
7) Implement the necessary mitigation plans across the Integration
programme as a whole, with connectivity to the corporate governance
systems in partner agencies.
8) Develop an agreed basis for a Section 75 agreement for the BCF for
approval by the Health and Wellbeing Board and undertake the
strategic management of this agreement.
9) Develop pooled arrangements for the Integration Programme for
approval by the Health and Wellbeing Board and undertake the
strategic management and relevant risk sharing agreement of these
arrangements.
10) Manage pooled budget risks in accordance with the protocol and
dispute resolution procedures.

122

11) Ensure connectivity and promote alignment with the LLR wide five year
health and social care strategy as appropriate.
12) Undertake forward planning for the potential extension of the
integration policy agenda nationally and locally, including any future
arrangements for the BCF.
13) Support the regular refresh of the Leicestershire Joint Health and
Wellbeing Strategy.
14) Support annual planning cycles for NHS and Local Authority partners
15) In conjunction with the Health and Wellbeing Board, direct a
communication and engagement plan about health and care
integration, targeted to a wide range of stakeholders across the health
and care system, with particular emphasis on the needs of the public
and local councillors.

Membership of the Integration Executive
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Director of Adults and Communities, LCC
Director of Public Health, LCC
Director of Children and Families Services, LCC
Managing Director of West Leicestershire CCG
Managing Director of East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG
Clinical Chairs (or their designates) of WLCCG and EL&RCCG
Director representative from EMAS
Director representative from UHL
Director representative from LPT
Representative of Local Healthwatch
Officer representative from District Councils
Director of Resources (or their designate) from LCC
Director of Finance representing both Clinical Commissioning Groups
Director of Health and Care Integration (Joint Appointment)

Meeting Frequency
Meetings will take place initially monthly, with an initial review at 6 months,
annually thereafter.
Chair
Clinical Chair of West Leicestershire CCG
Meeting Administration

123

Meetings will be administered by Democratic Services at Leicestershire
County Council
The agenda and papers will be issued no later than 4 working days in
advance unless later circulation has been authorised by the Chair
(exceptional circumstances).
Location of Meetings
Leicestershire County Council Committee Rooms
Quoracy
In order to meet and conduct routine business 6 members must be present of
which at least:
• 1 must be a clinical representative
• 1 must be a representative from Leicestershire County Council
• 1 must be a provider.
In order to take decisions in relation to the scope of the programme or
resource allocation 6 members must be present as follows:
• 1 representative from each clinical commissioning group
• 2 representatives from Leicestershire County Council
• 1 provider representative
• 1 clinical representative
• The representative from local healthwatch must also be present.
Reporting Arrangements
The Integration Executive will submit to the Health and Wellbeing Board:• At least quarterly reports on the performance of the Better Care Fund
and wider Integration Programme;
• At least annually a report on the use of resources in support of the
Better Care Fund.
The Integration Executive will report as appropriate to regional and national
assurance systems for the BCF.
The Integration Executive will ensure that risk is escalated as appropriate to
the relevant partners, subject to the appropriate reporting mechanisms to the
Health and Wellbeing Board, and will satisfy an internal or external audit
requirements of relevant partners.

124

This page is intentionally left blank

